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GROUP STRUCTURE
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Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

S s 40

REVENUE & PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
WA RAR R RER ANEASFERT

For continuing and discontinued operations
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
=5

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
I am pleased to present to our shareholders the results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or “Hanison”) for the year ended 31 March
2020.

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded
revenue from continuing operations of HK$958.2 million,
representing a year-on-year decline of 50.8% from
HK$1,948.1 million recorded in the previous financial
year. Consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HK$221.4 million (2019: HK$578.0
million), a decrease of 61.7% over the profit attained
last year. The decline was mainly attributable to (a)
the exceptionally large gain on disposals of self-used
properties in Shatin, subsidiaries and 40% interest of a
residential property in Sheung Wan of the Group in the
preceding year; (b) absence of profit from the Company’s
aluminium windows, doors and curtain walls business,
through Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited which
was discontinued in the preceding year; (c) a reduction of
contribution from Construction Division as a result of the
drop in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020; and
(d) partially offset by gain on disposals of a residential
property in Sai Ying Pun and 50% interest of an industrial
property in Kwai Chung and launch of strata sale of a
residential property in Cheung Sha Wan for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

The basic earnings per share and diluted earnings
per share for continuing and discontinued operations
for the year were HK20.3 cents and HK20.3 cents,
representing decreases of 63.6% and 63.0% respectively
when compared with HK55.7 cents and HK54.9 cents
respectively last year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 3 Ji% #t t 3

As at 31 March 2020, the net asset value of the Group
amounted to HK$3,923.6 million (2019: HK$3,779.4
million), representing an increase of 3.8% over last
year. Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2020 was
HK$3.60 (2019: HK$3.46).

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK5.0
cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK5.0 cents per share) to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 3
September 2020. This, together with an interim dividend
of HK2.5 cents per share (2019: HK2.5 cents per share)
distributed during the year, gives a total dividend of
HK7.5 cents per share for the year (2019: HK7.5 cents
per share in cash and a special interim dividend by
distribution in specie). The proposed final dividend will
be paid on 15 September 2020 following approval at
the annual general meeting scheduled to be held on 25
August 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

There is no question that 2020 will be exceptionally
difficult. Covid-19 has disrupted the world’s social and
economic order at such a headlong speed and enormous
scale, causing tragic loss of life and inevitable nationwide
lockdowns needed to contain the spread of the virus.
The global economy, for advanced and developing
economies alike, is suffering a substantial hit. This virus
has almost paralyzed the global consumption and trade.
It is particularly serious for retail, hospitality, transport
and tourism businesses.
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In USA, lockdowns across the nation to curtail the spread
of the novel coronavirus have hammered the economy,
shuttering businesses and sending unemployment
skyrocketing. Before the pandemic struck, USA had
experienced the longest economic expansion in its history
and unemployment rate had been kept at a 50-year low
of 3.5%. The USA Government’s restriction on social
distancing to contain the virus has unavoidably led to a
sharp contraction in consumer businesses such as retails,
restaurants, hotels, airlines, resorts, and sports, which
make up around two-thirds of the USA economy.

Before the novel coronavirus hit, China was already
walking a thin line between spending enough to
maintain economic growth and cutting down high levels
of debt that pose a structural threat to its economy’s
sustainability. Under the coronavirus attack, China had
been suffering a contraction in economy, with heaping
pressure to steady the economy and to ensure the
country’s growing unemployment problem did not
get worse. Being an economic powerhouse as a major
consumer and producer of goods and services, the
financial impacts of the coronavirus to and the speed of
recovery of China’s economy from the virus will be of
huge concern to the world.

Disease knows no boundaries. In this pandemic, no
country or city is being spared. Being an international
city, Hong Kong is closely linked to the world as a global
community. As such, the impact of the coronavirus
outbreak can be spread rapidly to almost all parts of
Hong Kong. Hong Kong's economy has been hit hard
by last year’s social unrest which shuttered retails and
severely hit tourism, and now, this novel coronavirus
pandemic poses additional challenge to the economy as
the Government imposes certain containment measures
such as social distancing restrictions which almost bring
the economy to a standstill.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 3 Ji% #t t 3

HIGHLIGHTS OF CORPORATE ACTIVITIES

For construction industry under the virus, progresses of
many projects in Hong Kong were delayed in February
and March by varying degrees as workers could not
return from China due to the lockdown after the Lunar
New Year holidays and shortage of raw materials as
factories were closed and public transport and freight
forwarding services in many mainland cities had
been disrupted to contain the outbreak in China. The
construction chain intertwines with one another. If
some of the materials are unavailable, the construction
work cannot proceed to the next step. Under such
circumstance, the Group’s construction progresses for
certain projects were delayed. Coupled with the fact that
several projects were close to their final stages and the
new project at Catchick Street has just started, turnover
dropped significantly from HK$1.6 billion to HK$0.6
billion for the year ended 31 March 2020.

In interior and renovation business, the pandemic has
definitely affected things on a few fronts. There are still
delays in the supply of materials due to certain suppliers’
factories shutdowns and transportation disruptions in
China and Europe. For bids of new projects, there are
always delays in awarding contracts at this moment. With
concern for the virus situation becoming more serious,
building owners will most likely choose to spend less.
Their renovation plans were less grand and their budgets
have gone down since the epidemic started. Fortunately
the Group’s interior and renovation division’s new project
at Heung Yip Road proceeded as planned, helping this
division to achieve a turnover of HK$234 million for the
year under review.

Our building materials business involves the supply and
installation of false ceiling and flooring. The shutdown
of manufacturing factories in China and Europe during
the coronavirus attack is likely to have an impact on the
global supply chain along with a consequential impact on
construction projects and other downstream industries
such as building materials industries. For our building
materials division, this year’s turnover recorded a decline
of 122% from last year's turnover of HK$93.2 million to
HK$42.0 million.

LFEBDEE

BREXARSNRETHRNE TARRE
HERYPRAIHARERTEEE - TR
BHURMRITER - DU BUE R 35 2538 1 &
BETESEMPEHARER R EERER
B URBEBRZHEANEEE - = RHEKE
TERENTEE -t TRIRREN ZETRE
SRREMEMo M MEEEAT — @R
BR-AWBRT AEBEREREWETERE
HAmMLEE -ANZERECEIEBAUNS
FHNHEE THERG REE-_ZT-FF
ZA=T-HLFE EXFABBI6R/IX
iE T B EBEET -

EREZELEHEHREEEBNELEEmE
R o B TR ER AR P B BN B
RETE MR HELEE - BIREHEEMS
HZBEESEEREEH - ARECEBEEM
Bk BFEIBEAIEEERIAX AR
RIFBBUR  BFEEREEBTENRE
WHERTASE - 2B ih - NEEEH 80 R AEIE 2L
REBEZENHIE B RRBT BT EFLDH
B B 4 2 815 & 22 5878 15 234,000,0007T °

KMMWEEMRERRERRER AR MH
ERZE EERFSEENRE PERE
NN BEET ARSI S 2R EEEXT
&, WHELBEENEMMBEMBHTESET
HITESRBEGFE - BEMBBRREEN
¥ FE K F A8 93,200,000 T TiB122%
Z;8%42,000,0007T

LS A P AT PR R 2019/2020 48 # 09



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT = Ji $iz % &

The Covid-19 outbreak also brought uncertainties to  2019B MR FEESHFWBRE TN UEHET S
the real estate market. A cycle of moderating leasing TREERZ -FEHEENEETHEEHRE
activity in Hong Kong with short-term downward price ~ HIMRE EXEBREHR TH EEKRFZEM
adjustments are expected. The once considered popular B BAERZTENESEARB2NAER
investments by most private equity firms for stable HEARGAEINETHESEROVEAMKRE B
rental returns in a low-yield world, the office and retail HRFZAREMARE NP AEE  BEER
properties are now losing appeal as many companies ADXEEERKRES BAERSEVWENSIE
are closing down or reducing spaces and shoppers are ~ kERS|H - SFEFEF—FE HRBEEZIKE
deserting shops and malls. Rental decline in the office =~ FHEEEBREH RAZERTEVETEMN
and retail property market continued to worsen in the & TBERBHES/L - BERBI D
first quarter of this year as a result of higher vacancy  EMFEAIYEERSERBHBTE BEEM
rates amid weakened leasing demand. While most EFRERRENRGEBEZETS FHiER
analysts are predicting property price slide during this  ZLUFRE CHIFERBEBNTE.

virus, the structural undersupply and low interest rates

continue to underpin the market and shield it from the

type of dramatic falls seen in past crises.

During the year under review, the Group has acquired REBEE AEEWESE TWE S8R
properties including Hay Nien Building in Kwun Tong, MWEEAE LENEFNERE -LEEHLT
Minibox Tower in Chai Wan, certain industrial units and F#AXBEREBEIEFLMNETIEEURE
car parking spaces at Chaiwan Industrial Centre and  FE{y - E¥#The MercerBA R B 50% {1
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, The Mercer in Sheung Wan R4/ Johnson Place - A# IR K
and 50% interest of Johnson Place in Chai Wan. To realise {2 H &7 & £ One Eleven D H I EH /O
the gains on properties, we have disposed of One Eleven  HI#& T TERIRFE K EH50%E S (L
in Sai Ying Pun, certain industrial units and car parking  REFMNHPRIEKRE-

spaces at Shatin Industrial Centre and 50% interest of

Central Industrial Building in Kwai Chung.

PROSPECTS RE

Hong Kong has been handling the pandemic well, at FHEBEHREBESE ELHEHMHFZERK
least comparative to many other countries and cities. A - FEBUFARKEERESE MW EE
The Hong Kong Government was quick to impose LB#FESEE -BRLEERRBEER B
strict and effective measures to curb the spread of the  HRYIR UEBRTHSENREHEEDY
virus. Essential service providers, including hospitals RHUHKESRFAATHER

and healthcare providers, transport and logistics, and

even supermarkets are all making do with the resources

available to them in the best possible way.

] 0 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 3 Ji% #t t 3

The Hong Kong Government has introduced various
financial assistances for businesses and individuals
impacted by the coronavirus outbreak, and the Anti-
epidemic Fund will be used to protect workers and
stabilise the challenges the economy faces.

During this virus attack, the small and medium-sized
enterprises (SMEs), particularly those engaged in retails,
tourism and restaurants businesses were hit hard. It may
not be possible for Hong Kong economy to rebound as
quickly as it did following the SARS epidemic in 2003.

The Covid-19 outbreak struck a second blow to Hong
Kong's property market which had already been
weakened from the social unrest in 2019. Like during the
SARS outbreak, this epidemic will freeze the properties
turnover, particularly the retail and office market, in
the short term. The retail and office market have come
under growing pressure from increasing vacancy rates
and depressed tenants’ demands for temporary reduction
in lease rents in the face of this difficult business
environment.

However, according to the Financial Secretary Mr. Paul
Chan, the coming property market price adjustment
would be far smaller than what Hong Kong went
through during the Asian financial crisis in 1997 and
the outbreak of SARS in 2003. Back then, more than
100,000 households found themselves in negative equity
territory, but the situation now is very different. The drop
in the property market price has been in order, property
holders’ mortgage ratio remains low in general and
developers’ level of leverage is much lower, in which they
would not flood the market with supplies in panic selling.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT = Ji $iz % &

As the economic downturn is caused by a public health  &EATEBHALBELKER  2HREBENE
crisis, recovery of the global economy depends on how  EERREMERESERFSRIBGEEN
fast we can come out of this coronavirus pandemic  EEEILEHEZ  AEEBRIEESRX
attack. During this difficult time, our Group will adopt #EBRMNBESHRARYWEREAS -

a prudent approach to maintain our cash flow and

property portfolio at a healthy level.

APPRECIATION B

In a time of crisis caused by the sudden coronavirus TEBRFESERNLEKEZ SEBETEAR
outbreak, it calls for the management’s rapid response to ~ FE¥» LIBH|ERFSEA QAR ELE B4
prevent the infection of the virus from spreading around  BFARBZLEN B FEE - T EERFERZ
the Company and meanwhile to maintain the routine EEEBREIXRRER BETE BHRK
functioning of the Company’s operations. | am glad that RREYHAQABAMNEEFHFE WA AE LUK
both our management and staff have done excellent Bfo

works to stay strong with minimal economic impact

during this critical moment.

Through our management’s leadership and our staff's BEA=+ZFR HAREEBNHEEEUR
persistent team efforts, we have been making significant ST HWTHMEE RAEAEEEE BEE
progress over the past 30 years. They should take great BEALBEXAFRBIEZ EREBEERE
pride in this accomplishment. It is that kind of positive  HERBESEART T BIEREERE-
attitude and commitment which will help the Company

grow to its full potential.

We would also want to thank our shareholders HEfTHRREREBBHNRIZE FO0K
and business partners for their continuing support, fEERRHFE -RMABRE - =B RRIDAE
confidence and trust. Our passion for quality, FHEEEREBE SEREENDRK UE
improvement and success will continue to generate  HREAHE-

steady, sustainable and profitable returns which will live

up to the expectations of our shareholders.

Cha Mou Sing, Payson ERE
Chairman FE
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

The revenue for the Construction Division was HK$605.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$1,621.2 million).

During the year, the Construction Division continued
to work on the projects on hand. The total amount
of contracts on hand as at 31 March 2020 for the
Construction Division amounted to HK$2,070.6 million.

Major Project Completed

(1) Construction of a 30-classroom secondary school at
Site 1A-2, Kai Tak Development, Kowloon

Major Projects Undertaken

(1) Construction of public rental housing development
at Shek Mun Estate Phase 2, Shatin, New Territories

(2) Construction of public rental housing development
at Choi Yuen Road Sites 3 and 4, Sheung Shui, New
Territories

(3) Construction of sports centre, community hall and
football pitches in Area 1, Tai Po, New Territories

(4) Construction of the proposed residential and
commercial development at 33-47 Catchick Street,
Kennedy Town, Hong Kong

EEE
BE-_S_TF=-A=t+—AHALEE B
RIUE A 5548 %605,000,0007T (ZFB—HhE
#1,621,200,0007T) ©

FR BEDEREETFHEEE - R=ZT=F
F=ZRA=1+—H BEINFESNEERZE
#3812 070,600,000 °
EEBRNEEILR

(1) BERhERMERREE1A-28 2 —F30
BEHE

AENETEIR

(1) EERHmROBEEMABE_HzoREE
BRIEH

]

() HEHREKKERBEIRIZAHE
E#REEE

(3) BEFAAREIBZEAR HEYE
R2HS

(4) BEEEBRRHMHFFEEH3BRE47HZ
E2RIERBXERIER
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Public rental housing development at
Shek Mun Estate Phase 2, Shatin
DHEMBE_BHZARERERIER

Public rental housing development at
Choi Yuen Road Sites 3 and 4, Sheung Shui
FAEERiEIRIZAREREREER

Residential and commercial development at
33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town
BN EREEBR RN IEREEERRER

Major Project Awarded During the Financial Year REBZE-Z-SEF=ZA=+—HLEHHK

Ended 31 March 2020 FEERNEEIR
(1) Proposed residential redevelopment at 21-31 Wing (1) BEBEFKEFENRNEIHE2ERES
Fung Street, Wan Chai, Hong Kong BEEA
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Awards

(1

)

®3)

In December 2019, Hanison Construction
Company Limited (“HCCL") received the "“Hong
Kong Construction Environmental Awards—
Environmental Merit Award 2019” organised by the
Hong Kong Construction Association.

In May 2019, construction of sports centre,
community hall and football pitches in Area 1,
Tai Po under HCCL was awarded the “Considerate
Contractors Site Award (Public Works — New
Works) — Gold” and "“Outstanding Environmental
Management and Performance Award (Public Works
— New Works) — Merit” in the 25th Considerate
Contractors Site Award Scheme, co-organised by
the Development Bureau and Construction Industry
Council.

In April 2019, construction of public rental housing
development at Shek Mun Estate Phase 2, Shatin
under HCCL obtained the “2018 Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence — Certificate of Merit”
under Construction Industry Category. Organised
by the Environmental Campaign Committee and
co-organised by the Environmental Protection
Department and nine organisations, the award
recognised our commitment and performance on
environmental management.

®I17

(1

()

(3

RZZB-NF+-h HEHBREEERA
A(TEBREE)REEBEETSE
BN EBEERARAR-REEER
2019 °

RZZ-NEFERAP  EFEEET AHE
1BrEEE HESERERGEHET
BRERREBEXESHSBMNMNE
BEABUBETEIT  DRILETA
EWBRB(IEIR-FELIR) -]
RIGEHRREEER (IBIR-HET
2)-ERE]-

RZZ-NAFNA BEREETHHE
MBE—He A tFEREBEERER
BEERARW2018FBREFIMAR -
BRER| - REHRREPEZETEINR
RERESRERBE 5T EM
RERREEMNAEMKRE -

LI 0 B A R A 5 2019/2020 4 #) 17



Outlook

In Hong Kong, many construction project progresses have
seen a slowdown in 2019 and this situation continued
to the 1st quarter of 2020. Under the coronavirus
attack, most construction companies have been facing
pressures from their workers’ delays in resumption to
work after Chinese New Year and suppliers’ factories
production postponements due to factories shutdowns
for constraining the outbreak of the virus. Under such
circumstance, the Group’s construction progresses for
certain projects were delayed. Coupled with the fact that
several projects were close to their final stages and the
new project at Catchick Street has just started, turnover
dropped significantly from HK$1.6 billion to HK$0.6
billion for the year ended 31 March 2020.

In the 2nd quarter of 2020, the concern for coronavirus
outspread still overshadowed the market and negative
impact is unavoidable in the near term. Fortunately,
with the upcoming residential properties developments
from both private and public sectors, together with the
Urban Renewal Development Scheme and Revitalisation
of Industrial Building Scheme in progress, the pandemic
effect is likely to be transitory and pent-up demand
for residential properties will resume once the virus is
contained. These are favourable factors supporting the
construction industry in the middle term.

In this fast changing environment, the challenges
facing construction companies will become ever more
complex. Driven by higher customer expectations,
the need for lower costs, better quality and punctual
completion times are inescapable. Yet amidst all these
anticipations, construction companies must continue to
meet strict compliance requirements of the Government
and regulatory bodies and increasing standards in
environmental management.

;- 3]

RER ZHREXHENEECR-Z-IF
BE MEBEREEE S -_SFE-—FE-
EBRBESNEET KB BRELTD—HH
mETIARBREHFREEETIR HIEMER
FIMUEHFRSELEMEREERRNE
H-HERBERT AEEETHENERER
KEEE MeETHBECEERE MURS
FAINEIR B HIRRE € BE 68T
RETBEBE-Z-ZEF=ZA=+—H1L
FEMBE6RT-

R-ZZZEFEZFE - UERBSRIFRE
MEENHATSRLRE  BEHRSIBNE
HXERENRE - EEEENE RARD
EEEYENEERE ERCHINTEER
BRERIIFLCIERENE ZELET
2RE BFS—BEH BBRREEWES
R 2HRBRETEPHBRRONGFEE

ERBERVRED  BEDQTHERHES
AmfEmEM - FFNPERHRES kR
BRA-REEERERE T AT EEHEH
EFEEMENER BELATATA-—ENE
BRAREERBIEENBRESHRERKA

SRENREEERE.
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In the current economic climate which impacts the
construction industry, it is essential that construction
businesses are innovative in their approach and maintain
strong controls over tendering procedures and cost
control as there continues to be strong competition
and pressure on margins. Technology evolves apace.
Construction companies must be alert of the emerging
new technology and information systems and be an early
adopter of these advanced tools that will help improve
the construction efficiency and effectiveness.

Given the opportunities and potential challenges that are
facing the construction industry, the year ahead promises
to be dynamic. As several major construction projects,
including new residential properties to meet the citizens’
housing demands, renewal of aged residential buildings
and revitalization of industrial buildings, construction
companies have opportunities to play central roles.
However, sustained cost pressures and keen competition
will not evaporate, construction companies should
consider how to mitigate these operational challenges
and be more responsive to customers’ needs and
expectations.

Going forward, our construction division will make
every effort to control costs, improve efficiency and
effectiveness, and keep abreast of the new technology to
maintain our competitiveness in the industry.

ENSBREFEERETE REHNER
HENRE BZEQATARBHER B
SEERRRFRASES -RREREHA
£ BRELNTAHHENREMRENRGRE
HHWEE FRRARALETR FURE
FEEMRR A

BTN R SEAT SR P R OB B R R R B - R 2R
—FEMBREZE HEFRETYERED
REFFER ERZEEERBFRELIEXR
ELZHRIEZEEEE BEQAAFARZ
o A HEHNKABORBIUNRE TS
BEHK BEAFRHHNERZSEERSE
% WEHEEHE P HERRAEL
[ fE »

RERFR FEFRE - BARREME U
K EREF BB @ 5w - RN N IERR D
DR RFRERNNZRFE D -
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OPERATIONS REVIEW

INTERIOR AND RENOVATION DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Interior and
Renovation Division recorded a revenue of HK$234.3
million, as compared with HK$189.4 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2020 for the Interior and Renovation Division amounted
to HK$226.9 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1)  Full reinstatement at 24/F — 26/F of Exchange Square
3, Central, Hong Kong

(2) Proposed renovation works for Pentecostal Mission
Hong Kong and Kowloon Church at 71 Waterloo
Road, Kowloon

Renovation works for Pentecostal Mission Hong Kong and
Kowloon Church at 71 Waterloo Road
BITEZENSBNIAHFSHE2RBIRE

52 B B 1= 3B

BE-ZE-ZF=-A=+—-HALEE £#HiR
HEISIBERIZ UL B8 %5234,300,000T » T EF
Bl /7% %5 189,400,000T

MNZBEZEE=ZA=+—0 £ REEEH
FHEAHNEEEEEAB%226,900,0007T
EEEMNEEIR

(1) BEBYERRXSZESEZEUAEE6E
2HERIRE

(2) NEBTZEBNREBNIATEHEZ
BREEIR

Full reinstatement at 24/F — 26/F
of Exchange Square 3, Central

PR GESEZEAEE20ECEHEBERITRE

LIS S e B AT PR AT 2019/2020 42 $: 21



Major Projects Undertaken

(1

)

3)

4

(5)

(6)

22

Building renovation works of Cavendish Heights
(Block 1-7) at 33 Perkins Road, Jardine’s Lookout,
Hong Kong

Alteration and addition works for 99-101 Lai Chi
Kok Road, Kowloon

Combined fitting out works for hotel and office
packages for proposed hotel and office building at
43 Heung Yip Road, Hong Kong

3-year general building maintenance term contract
(2019-2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

Proposed additions and alterations works at No.138
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong

Facade repair works for campus buildings (2019-
2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

Building renovation works of Cavendish Heights
(Block 1-7) at 33 Perkins Road, Jardine's Lookout
BEILEEREBREEZ (1-7B)EF2E£BIR

AENEEIR

(1)

(2)

€)

4)

(5)

(6)

HBERALAEREBREEE (1-75)
BFZEBIR

NEH R AEFINRE 10155 22 K in
BIRE
EREREBTRZERBEERPLET
REREIR

BEEBETAB=F (ZE-NFE-R
ToF)-RBEEHMRESHY

BB THER I ZEBMERKET
=S

BERRTABREEFIMEEB IR (=
E-NEEZE-_F)

Alteration and addition works
for 99-101 Lai Chi Kok Road

BRABEEIEEI101 2 RERMETR
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3-year general building maintenance term contract
(2019-2022) for the City University of Hong Kong
EBHTAB=ZF (ZE-NFEZEZ-_F)
—REEEHREESYN

Award

In June 2019, alteration and addition works for 99-101
Lai Chi Kok Road under Hanison Interior & Renovation
Limited obtained “Silver Award — Best Refurbishment
and Maintenance Contractor in Occupational Safety and
Health” on Construction Safety Promotional Campaign
2019, jointly organised by the Labour Department and
Occupational Safety and Health Council. The award
recognised our performance in cultivating a safe working
environment.

Outlook

Renovating a property in Hong Kong can usually boost
its market value. With this being said, many Hong Kong
homeowners and property investors will choose to
undertake major renovation projects before putting their
properties up for sale with the hope that giving the place
a makeover will lead to bigger return.

Additions and alterations works at
No.138 Connaught Road West
FHEMISKEZMERRETR

8

RIZE-NEARB EBEAREEERAF
ETHRABFEINEZI01EZRERMNET
RREREERIHERETE2019 R - KE
BEZRBESRREAEE] THHEIER
BEZRERHESETH -ZBESERMN
EEZETHERBEIEPIRER

RE

REB ZEBEURAYEDE B FF
ZEBEIRVEREENYEHRBEEA
BEFAHEE SEFBBE—HESEAME
o
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However, as the spread of coronavirus epidemic caused
anxieties across Hong Kong, many shopping malls,
restaurants and retailers were deserted, and many office
and retail buildings were vacant. Property owners have
chosen a wait-and-see approach, and were hesitant to
spend a lot of money to renovate their properties at
this moment. During the recent months, the awards of
renovation works have been very slow.

In the 1st quarter of 2020, most interior and renovation
works were delayed as a result of workers being
unable to resume work after Chinese New Year due to
boundary lockdowns, delay in the supply of materials
due to shutdowns of certain suppliers’ factories and
transportation disruptions in China and Europe.
Fortunately, our Group’s interior and renovation revenue
was not seriously affected. On the contrary, due to the
commencement of the new renovation project at Heung
Yip Road, our revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020
increased to HK$234.3 million, from last year's revenue of
HK$189.4 million.

it is expected that the prospect of
the interior and renovation business is positive but

Going forward,

competition will remain severe. We need to develop our
interior and renovation business into a modern, safe,
innovative, efficient, environmentally responsible and
client oriented business that strives to deliver quality
products in order to support our further development
and to provide a better living environment for our
clients. We must be able to enhance our competitiveness
in the long run and strive for excellence in providing
firm support to our efforts in making ourselves a reputed
interior and renovation company through a culture
of continuous improvement to seek to surpass clients’
expectations.

A HRBRBESRFEE 2BALIE

2 REBYFL -EEREBEEMTESE
BEFRDPMOAREBREEREAEZEZ X

FBERE HREBUSSBERARENFRERE

TR-MBEBARN  KIETRNMUHEERE
18 o
N—ECREE-ZFE HRIARBRHE

BENEBNFRET 2T HERIHEE
LM RMEREIEE - B B EEEUM AR B
BRABEMRECIREER-BEEESE
WRE AEENESRESRALASIRE
FE MR BYEEENHEBCEEHT K
MBZ-_ZT_TF=A=1+—HLEFEMNNK
A EFE R A B 189,400,000 1 = B 1
234,300,0007T °

REARN MK RAESRBIATR LN
B FRBEARIK - RPIEBREMRAEESE
BERRAA-BEL 22 A5 5% BR
REFELNER IEXNEEERULSE
EANSERRE URRMANEFREEFN
HERE - REMS RMAABEIRABRS
DA HREHE - BB AEHRAUSEEBHER
AN AFERRIENROREED
ARMBE I

24 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020






BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION

The Group's Building Materials Division specialises in
the supply and installation of interior products such
as different types of suspended ceiling system, metal
cladding system, fire rated enclosure system and wood
flooring.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the revenue of
the Building Materials Division was HK$42.0 million
compared with that of HK$93.2 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2020 for the Building Materials Division amounted to
HK$69.5 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) Construction of 30-classroom secondary school at
Site 1A-2, Kai Tak Development, Kowloon — Design,
supply and installation of suspended ceiling system

(2) Proposed residential & commercial development
at Yau Tong Lot No.42, 1 Lei Yue Mun Path, Lei
Yue Mun, Kowloon — Supply and installation of
suspended ceiling system, timber flooring and
skirting

(3) Proposed residential development at Castle Peak
Road, Kwu Tung, New Territories Lot No.2640 in
D.D.92 - Supply and installation of suspended
ceiling system

(4) Proposed residential redevelopment at No.23
Robinson Road, Hong Kong at Carpark - Supply and
installation of external ceiling system

(5) Proposed residential development at TMTL
542, Castle Peak Road, Castle Peak Bay Area 48,
Tuen Mun, New Territories — Design, supply and
installation of suspended ceiling system

BEMHAS

REENEEMBBEMHRERZREEANE
BEM UTREENBRXIERS SBHR
AKX RERS R AMAR -

BE-S-_FTF=-A=t+—RALEE BSH
BHER 2 LA B8 #42,000,000T ' T EF BB
793 200,0007T °

R-ZB-EE=ZA=+—H BEHMEBHF
HEAHEELALZE S B %69,500,0007T ©

EXHHNEETR

(1) ERhERMERERI1A-2MBEZ—FH30
PEPE R HERZEBRIERR

(2) NEEAFIEERPIEISMEBREA25R
ZEBEERBERREBE -HERZ
EBRRIERS BEERBRRENR

(3) FABLRAKEBERLEL D24
FREE26405% 2 BB RIAE —HE
RZEBRIERS

(4) BEREGEEBEBRZERETEEREAE
(FE5) —HERZEIIBRIERSL

(5) HFABFIBTILERFIBEBILAKEF
MR ESA2R 2R EETRRIAE — &
S HERZERRIERS
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Supply and installation of external ceiling system for
residential redevelopment at No.23 Robinson Road at Carpark

BEEEBEDBRETERER (FF5) HERZERIBRIERER

(6) Proposed office development at 1 Hennessy Road,
Hong Kong — Supply and installation of suspended
ceiling system

Major Projects Undertaken

(1) Proposed residential development at TMTL 500
Kwun Chui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories —
Supply and installation of suspended ceiling system

(2) Museum Plus (M+) at West Kowloon Cultural District
— Supply and installation of metal ceiling and FRP
system

(3) Proposed Site C1 Development at Area 86, TKOTL
70RP Tseung Kwan O, New Territories, Lohas
Park Package 7A & B - Supply and installation of
suspended ceiling system

(6) EBHEFEIRZERRAEZRRA
B-HERZEBRIERSR

AENETEIR

(1) FAREMEZER TP ERES005E 2 2
EAERREE-HERZEHBXRIER
o

(2) AHIITIEEMuseum Plus (M+) — {HER

ZREBRIER K RIERER

(3) HFABEBRTHEREIOEGRR B HER
$E7AK7BEIS6EEZF M B CIZEEE —
HERZEBRRKIERS
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Supply and installation of metal ceiling and FRP system for

Museum Plus (M+) at West Kowloon Cultural District
7 L3 {L & Museum Plus (M+) — {FE &
ZHESEBRIERME K KRG

Major Projects Awarded During the Financial
Year Ended 31 March 2020

(1

)

@)

4

28

MTR SCL Contract No.1123 - Exhibition Station and
Western Approach Tunnel - Design, supply and
installation of suspended ceiling system

Tai Wai Station property development — External
ceiling system under transfer plate (T1 to T8)

Construction of the Hong Kong Palace Museum
for The West Kowloon Cultural District Authority —
Design, supply and installation of suspended ceiling
system

Construction of public rental housing development
at Queen’s Hill Site 1, Phase 1 & Portion of Phase 6
— Design, supply and installation of external ceiling
system

Supply and installation of suspended ceiling
system for Lohas Park Package 7A & B
AHEHETIARTBE —HERZEBRIERR

REBE-Z-ZF=A=+—-HLHPK
FEERNTEIR

(1) BEASHREESHNRIR1123-SRI
KA EEERE - R HERZERR
XN

(2) REMAEEMRBREBE-BHIE ME
T8) ZHMNERRTE R 4t

) AAXEEBHR=EHEYEZEE
TRE-RiT-HERZEBRRIERS

(4) ERU-—FHB (F-HREAHITD
WB) AHEERRBEZEETIRE R
s HERZERIMBRIERR
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Outlook

During the coronavirus outbreak, Hong Kong
construction projects have experienced disruptions
to works mainly due to the shortage of workers and
building materials necessary for the construction works.

As a measure to deter the spread of the virus during
February and March this year, the China Government
has tightened its quarantine measures and restrictions
on movement of populations between cities, and
temporarily suspended manufacturing operations in
many provinces. Since the Group’s building materials
division requires materials from various China factories,
it has caused disruptions to our supply and installation
of false ceiling and flooring works in Hong Kong. As a
result, our revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020
dropped to HK$42.0 million from last year's revenue of
HK$93.2 million.

2019 has been a challenging year for the global economy
due to the sudden attack of the coronavirus epidemic.
We expect this adverse impact to the global trade to
carry over into 2020. In Hong Kong, the construction
industry is poised to benefit from the development plans
for residential properties from both public and private
sectors, the Urban Renewal Residential Building Scheme
and the Revitalization of Industrial Building Scheme.
When the virus situation improves, the construction
industry will recover, and we are optimistic that we will
be able to get more supply and installation of false
ceiling and flooring contract works.

Apart from skyrocketing real estate prices in Hong Kong,
the increasing costs of labour and building materials
make a property project expensive. To save costs, most
developers choose to use building materials that are
affordable and environmentally friendly. To meet our
customers’ requirement, we will strive to source for
the most suitable and innovative building materials
and scrutinize the installation work to deliver the best
products.

ek

F&

RERFEESRIFHE FBEEEE TR
B T EFERARSEIRMENTARESEN
BHRER

CECZF_AR=-RHEBHRSEENTF
E& 2 — 2 B BUT AN GE R B 1 e % PR 3
AERE WAZEEHENERERELEESE
BoBARAEENEEMRBERPESZT AT
BEEME ITRERESKMAREBENRE
ERRTRENEERZEES P Fit-
BB E—_Z_ZSF=A=+—HLFEW
WA HEFEHUA 93,200,000 TBEEE
#£42,000,0007T °

%Fﬂ%f%fﬁmﬁ%'—i NEHEIR
KEM=EBRBEEN—F -RMRBHEZ
RE %Eﬁ%Tﬂ%%%L%i_q_7¢°
REBR ZRITEERZEROARALAEEY
ENEREBETE IhEEREERTHE
RECIERESE - BEERFE 2K £
REFTREH K BRMLBAE KM
BERENESESZBRAERBROUERZ
KEHNTIR-

BREBEMENERAIIN BRIERNE T
REEMHRASYEEERERE - BEE
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

The Property Development Division recorded no revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

As for the joint venture project, Mount Vienna, the low-
density residential project in Fo Tan, New Territories in
which the Group has 25% interest, the Group recorded
the sale of 1 unit out of the total 12 units during the
year. The profit was recognised as share of profit of joint
ventures. The remaining 2 units are being offered for
sales.

MERRER

BE-_S_TF=-A=t+—ALEE YER
BRI EBEEBEMBA(ZE—NEF &)

FMEELEEE Mount Vienna (AEEEH
25%fEm 2R RN R ZBEEEEER)
e FRAAEEHSEL2EENFEESR
MERHE - ZaMNER R D IEEEREER -
BT 2MEELPESE-

Mount Vienna at Fo Tan, Shatin
{1 R H K 5% 2 Mount Vienna

LUXEAST, the Group’s 49% interest in the parcel of
land situated at FEARHEL MBI IEBE R IEEK
7afAl - 2 E =8/ (West of Wenyuan Road and South
of Houfutinggang, Haining, Zhejiang Province, the
People’s Republic of China) for the development and
construction of office, retail, car parking spaces and other
development pertaining to the land. The respective &
ZEFTE#FE (Building Ownership Certificates) have been
issued in March 2015. A total of 130 BREEE&E (Sale
and Purchase Agreement for Commodity Flat) have been
signed up to the end of the reporting period in which
127 units had been delivered to customers.

ERAEBEEA9%ERE 2 (R ] (URPEA
RAMBIIEABETEXKAR B
BEAN—EL (AERRRERRAE
B FEAREMAEREZER) ER-E—H
FZREREEMERF -BERTHR £
HEFT T30 EREEEESR  HP 127/
NERFFEE-
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In August 2019, a joint venture in which the Group has
50% interest entered into a sale and purchase agreement
to dispose of 100% interest of Popular Castle Limited
and its subsidiaries which held an industrial property,
Central Industrial Building, located in Kwai Chung, New
Territories. The disposal was completed in March 2020.

In September 2019, a joint venture in which the Group
has 50% interest entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to acquire 100% interest of Harbour Sky (BVI)
Ltd. which directly held the whole block of industrial
property, namely Johnson Place, located at No. 14-16 Lee
Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong. The acquisition was
completed in October 2019.

For a piece of land at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road,
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon with the objective of
developing the property into a premium residential
project, lease modification for redevelopment has been
applied and is under processing.

For the pieces of agricultural land at Tong Yan San Tsuen
in Yuen Long, a land exchange application for residential
use was made in 2012 with the Lands Department. It is
expected that the offer of land premium will be issued
soon.

For the proposed residential development project with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited at So Kwun Wat, Tuen
Mun, planning application to the Town Planning Board
was completed in the previous financial year. A land
exchange application to convert the land to residential
use is under processing.
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Outlook

Property sales have been muted since the social unrest
started in the middle of last year. The Covid-19 outbreak
further intensified the problems with the Hong Kong
housing market and brought it to a standstill in February
and March this year when the Hong Kong Government
introduced tighter social-distancing measures for
closing cinemas, fitness centres and other public venues,
prohibiting gatherings of more than four people at
restaurants, imposing travel restrictions and other
quarantine rules. Property market sentiment was poor
and property viewings were restricted in response to the
imposed lockdowns.

Many giant property developers are expecting significant
reduction in net profits for the first half this year due
to lower contribution from local property sales and
rentals, losses from hotel and restaurant operations,
as well as drop in the market value of their properties
on hand. Hotels and retail properties were particularly
vulnerable under the coronavirus attack, as travel bans
and lockdown orders to contain the global coronavirus
pandemic kept business travellers and tourists away,
hitting these two types of properties particularly hard.
The luxury residential market has been largely backed
by the mainland Chinese capital over the past five to ten
years. However, mainland buyers have become inactive
this year because of tightened capital controls and the
social unrest situation in Hong Kong.
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During this difficult moment, the Hong Kong
Government altered the policy for first-time
homeowners, enabling them to gain easier access to
property valued at or under HK$10 million, by reducing
the amount they would have to pay for their deposits.
However, the Government still maintains the other
property price cooling measures such as the imposition of
double stamp duties, the proposed charging of vacancy
tax on vacant private residential units that have not been
occupied for more than six of the last twelve months,
and tight restrictions on lending ratio to curb speculative
investors.

While the housing market will continue to benefit from
low interest rates, the undersupply of residential flats
and the slight relaxation in loan leverage on certain low
price flats, the increasing unemployment could be the
biggest threat to Hong Kong's economy, dampening
home buyers’ confidence. Some potential property
buyers and investors anticipating further price falls are
also holding back. They hope that the Covid-19 outbreak
might be able to bring down the property prices to their
budget.

Going forward, although the longest bull market in the
Hong Kong property sector’s history came to an end in
the first quarter of 2020, because of the social unrest and
coronavirus attack, it should only be a price adjustment
rather than a collapse in the Hong Kong property market.
The prolonged undersupply situation of properties
(particularly the residential properties), the low interest
rate environment, the increasing accumulative worth of
Hong Kong people and inflows of potential property
investors’ funds are all positive factors benefitting the
property development business in Hong Kong.

Over the years, our Group has acquired and maintained
several pieces of land at affordable prices. We are seeking
suitable partners to develop the land into properties.
During this uncertain circumstance, we will take prudent
approach in handling our land development projects,
with the top priority in maintaining sound cash flow
position and comfortable level of gearing ratio.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT DIVISION

The Property Investment Division recorded a revenue of
HK$48.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$40.2 million).

To diversify its investment portfolio, the Group
completed the acquisition of an industrial property,
Hay Nien Building at No. 1, Tai Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon in May 2019. In addition, the Group completed
the acquisition of 100% interest of Storage Portfolio
Holding Il Ltd together with its wholly owned subsidiary,
Storage Holding | Ltd which held the whole block of
industrial property, namely Minibox Tower at No. 18
Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong and certain
industrial units and car parking spaces at Chaiwan
Industrial Centre and Kwun Tong Industrial Centre in
August 2019. In October 2019, the Group has entered
into a sale and purchase agreement to acquire 100%
interest of Excel Chinese International Limited holding
the whole block of serviced residence property, namely
Citadines Mercer Hong Kong, located at No. 29 Jervois
Street, Hong Kong. The transaction was completed in
November 2019.
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The Mercer at No. 29 Jervois Street
LR BRAE298% 2 The Mercer
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As the Group considered that the market presented a
good opportunity to unlock the value of the properties,
several sale and purchase agreements were entered
into to dispose of its properties. In July 2019, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement to dispose
of 100% interest of General Mark Holdings Limited,
together with its wholly owned subsidiary, Masswell
International Limited which held a serviced apartment,
One Eleven, located at No. 111 High Street, Hong Kong.
The transaction has been completed in August 2019. In
addition, the Group entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with two independent third parties in July
2019 to dispose of certain workshops and car parking
spaces of Shatin Industrial Centre. The transactions
were completed in August 2019 and September 2019
respectively.

Renovation of West Park was completed during the year
and strata sale was launched in January 2020. A total of
40 sale and purchase agreements was signed up to the
end of the reporting year. Further 22 sale and purchase
agreements have been signed and 18 units had been
delivered to customers subsequent to the financial year
and up to the date of this annual report. The remaining 1
residential unit is being offered for sales.

The Connaught at No. 138
Connaught Road West
{2 7 F 738 7813885 2 The Connaught

Hollywood Road

Hollywood Hill at No. 222
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PeakCastle at No. 476 Castle Peak Road
LA B 1L D 47655 2 PeakCastle

I PA TR 22 7 3822255 22 Hollywood Hill

S G e AT PR R 2019/2020 4P

37



Investment properties of the Group including various
units at Shatin Industrial Centre, some units at Kings
Wing Plaza 1 in Shek Mun, Hollywood Hill at No. 222
Hollywood Road, No. 31 Wing Wo Street in Sheung Wan,
some units at Kin Wing Industrial Building in Tuen Mun,
various land lots in D.D. 76 Ping Che in Fanling, retail
shops of The Austine Place in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hay Nien
Building in Kwun Tong, Minibox Tower in Chai Wan,
certain industrial units and car parking spaces at Chaiwan
Industrial Centre and Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, The
Mercer in Sheung Wan, and following three properties
in which the Group has 50% interest: PeakCastle in
Cheung Sha Wan, Hoi Bun Godown in Tuen Mun and
The Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West, all
contributed rental incomes to the Group during the
financial year.

Renovation of West Castle was completed during the
year and is now available for rent.

The Edward is now under renovation in order to improve
the respective rental incomes and to enhance the
property value.

West Castle at No. 22 Yip Shing Street
{7 7A€ 3 #7225 -2 West Castle
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FIX¥ENREEN LB The MercerblA K&
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The Edward at 99-101 Lai Chi Kok Road
MR AEI99EE 10195 2 The Edward
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Outlook

The outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic that began
in December 2019 poses downside risks to Hong Kong's
property market which is expected to face a tough year
in 2020. Economic decline and rising unemployment will
affect purchasing power and hence property prices. On
the other hand, some potential property investors and
buyers are all longing for the history of SARS in 2003 to
repeat itself and property values to decline to the extent
of the last desease which may create a chance for them
to enter the market. However, there are fundamental
differences between what happened to Hong Kong
during SARS and now. Firstly, property prices have not
come down that much as property undersupply situation
was not so serious in 2003 as we are now. Secondly, the
loan to property value level was much higher in the
market when SARS happened and triggered a fire sale
by then. Thirdly, interest rate continuously remains at a
low level during the past ten years helping to reduce the
finance costs for holding properties.

Many property investors and owners in Hong Kong are
not desperate to offload their long-held assets to secure
capital gains in the face of this challenging situation.
They expect that property prices should rebound once
the virus is over and demand returns amid limited
property supply. Although they expect property leasing
activity will stay slow, with rents likely to fall and vacancy
likely to rise, they wait patiently, offer their tenants
short-term rental reliefs and provide leasing incentives
and discounts to attract new tenants during this difficult
business environment.
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When the virus is over, it is expected that residential
and office properties should recover modestly as the
prolonged undersupply should support a rebound in
property prices and rents. The impact of the social unrest
and coronavirus outbreak on the retail and hotel sectors
are more severe and it is not easy to find ways to repeat
the history of a speedy recovery for these business
sectors.

As we look back, Hanison has been successful with its
strategy in the property investment business through the
process of acquisition, renovation, property management
and rental improvement and then re-sell for capital
gains. The long and unbroken prosperity of the Hong
Kong property market and low interest rate environment
have helped enhance our Group’s net worth over the
years. However, as home purchase is increasingly out of
reach to ordinary families, the Hong Kong Government
has to address the rising social discontent to control the
property prices and supply more affordable housing to
the general public. The Government has imposed certain
cooling measures on the property prices by increasing
stamp duties and decreasing the leverage levels on
property mortgage loans to curb speculative investments
on properties. Meanwhile the Government boost supply
to provide affordable public housing to the general
public in response to the growing demand. Therefore
property price corrections are under way even without
the impact of the coronavirus outbreak. This begs the
question of to what extent property prices need to adjust
to be affordable to Hong Kong people.

Going forward, we should be very careful in selecting
and keeping properties with high potentials in our
investment property portfolio and be watchful of the
market changes. While yearning for the past success,
we should remain vigilant about the rapid change of
the global and local political and economic situation
and respond quickly. We should maintain a sound cash
flow and keep a reasonably low level of gearing ratio to
remain liquid at all time.

RISEHRE AR RHTERGIEYRE
KA RE BFEENRAYESBESE
B HEHENERBESRBYTENEESE
NEELRBRE AEERUZETELES
=Ho

CIREEE - EESEBWE B WXEERE
THE BEENENERNRG  MERES
R RN R - REUR  BEBEHETD S
REGENENZREEBRALEENF
EE AWM AREEREHNEEREE &8
BUREMATE F ABRERBENTMERE U
FHREIRAEEARRHEZTEEER K
FEBRSMERMEENEERERNE
RAFINH R YR ER RN —ER
BIENE - B BUFIRIMHEEERSIERA
FRBLABATRHITEENIEEN-RB
It EAZERRESREBEOTE  WEER
1B EZEXAT M FRERS EREA RN
EREBERTAENKTFAABEERE-

RERR RAEHENSERENEEASH
EERBINMERBAEETS KAFE
MIBED - EERBERMBNE R > HFIER
FEG BIE2RM S BUEREBELZIR
B WA IR HRE - RABESREN
REng YRFEENEKEEEB/LLERK
Fo DB RIFREIE

40 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020



Prop

ro
Management Division

erty
e . N
%égjﬁl_i A% T




PROPERTY AGENCY AND MANAGEMENT
DIVISION

The revenue of the Property Agency and Management
Division for the year ended 31 March 2020 was HK$18.1
million (2019: HK$25.0 million).

In Hong Kong, our Property Agency and Management
Division acted as the marketing and project manager
for The Grampian at No. 11 Grampian Road, Mount
Vienna at Lok Lam Road, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha Wan,
Central Industrial Building in Kwai Chung (terminated
in March 2020), The Connaught at No. 138 Connaught
Road West, Johnson Place in Chai Wan, The Austine Place
at No. 38 Kwun Chung Street and Hay Nien Building at
No. 1 Tai Yip Street. This Division also provided property
management services to The Austine Place in Tsim Sha
Tsui, The Bedford in Tai Kok Tsui, Eight College and One
LaSalle in Kowloon Tong, One Eleven in Sai Ying Pun
(terminated in August 2019), PeakCastle in Cheung Sha
Wan, Mount Vienna at Lok Lam Road, The Connaught
at No. 138 Connaught Road West, Hollywood Hill at No.
222 Hollywood Road, Hay Nien Building at No. 1 Tai Yip
Street and The Mercer at No. 29 Jervois Street.

Other services of this Division include rental collection
and leasing agency services to 8 Hart Avenue and The
Cameron in Tsim Sha Tsui.
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Outlook

For our property management and leasing division, we
are committed to providing integrated services tailored
to meet clients’ needs and ensuring that communication,
organisation and control are maintained throughout
the management process. Our team of property
management and leasing managers, security officers,
engineers and administration officers combines skills and
experience to deliver the highest standard of services
through the most cost-effective means.

We are currently responsible for the property management
services for eleven properties, and tenancy management
and rental collection services for two buildings. These
properties include residential properties, commercial
office buildings and industrial buildings. Majority of these
properties were developed or acquired by our Group or the
Group's joint ventures.

We have also been providing project management and
marketing services to six properties which are either the
properties of the Group or the Group's joint ventures.

This division serves to compliment the properties of
the Group and the Group’s joint ventures, aiming at
enhancing the properties rental incomes and values. With
a wealth of experience and support from our back office
colleagues, we aim to enhance and develop our services
along with the changing property environment.
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Marketing and project manager and
property management services for PeakCastle
A PeakCastlelE I M IZHER
HERBRIZEYEEERE

Marketing and project manager and
property management services for Mount Vienna
AHMount ViennalEEH 5 HE R
HERERRBEYEEERE

Marketing and project manager for Johnson Place
AJohnson PlacelE M iBHERIEE K12

Marketing and project manager and
property management services for The Connaught
A The ConnaughtiEE T B #ER
BB R EEERYE
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HEALTH PRODUCTS DIVISION

Made up of two subsidiaries of the Group, namely Care
& Health Limited (“Care & Health”) and Retailcorp
Limited ("Retailcorp”), the Health Products Division
focuses on wholesale of Chinese and Western nutritional
supplements and management of relevant retail chain
stores.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Division recorded
revenue of HK$50.3 million, compared to HK$60.0 million
last year.

Retailcorp manages the Group’s chain stores business
under the trade name HealthPlus. Currently, there are 3
retail outlets (including a HealthPlus shop at St. Teresa’s
Hospital) and 1 service centre in operation. During the
current financial year, HealthPlus joined the Eugene Baby
Fair 2019 from 2 to 5 August 2019 and Care & Health
joined the Food Expo from 15 to 19 August 2019, both
held at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre.
To enhance our advertising effort, the Group appointed
an actress Ms. Chiu Ngar Chi as a celebrity endorser for
our product “Lingzhi Master” in order to increase the
product’s awareness and popularity. In respect of the
e-Commerce business, the Group established different
e-commercial channels to draw customers from different
regions.
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Outlook

The on-going social unrest that began since June 2019
has negative impacts on almost all retail shops in
Hong Kong. It discouraged tourists and dampened the
retail business. Coupled with the threat of coronavirus
infection that is heavily weighing on inbound tourism
and local consumptions, the business environment
for retail trade has become more difficult. To contain
the spread of the virus, the Hong Kong Government
rolled out a series of travel curbs and social-distancing
measures. These included closing all but three border
checkpoints, suspending schools and asking hundreds of
thousands of civil servants and private-sector employees
to work from home. Since most of the health product
businesses were traditionally carried out in retail shops,
the impact on retail shops would directly affect the
health product sales. As a result, the Group’s health
product business for most of the retail shops had suffered
loss during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Consumer desire to become healthier has been a growth
driver for health products manufacturers and sellers
who align their offerings to consumer needs and desires.
Our Group has been operating health product business
since 2003. We have been providing a wide range of
health products with Lingzhi Master and Bu Yick Fong -
28 Chinese Herbal Soup as our main products. Over the
years, we have built different distribution networks of
unique scope and depth such as retail shops in different
shopping malls and clubs at Tsim Sha Tsui. We also tap
into the large health products chain stores and put our
products on their chain stores’ shelves for sales. We
regularly join the large-scale outdoor expos and carnivals
such as the Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo, Food
Expo and Baby Fair. We have also been developing our
new e-shops channels.
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Perhaps the most cost effective means of products
distribution is by e-shopping. Under e-shopping channels,
customers can purchase items from the comfort of their
homes or work places. It saves time for customers and
they do not have to stand in queues in cash counters to
pay for the products. As far as the sellers are concerned,
advertising messages can be distributed quickly and easily
with no extra costs, and they can also save staff costs and
rentals for providing physical stores. The recent social
unrest and coronavirus outbreak have been keeping
consumers at home. Online shopping proves to be an
ideal channel which benefits both customers and sellers.

Going forward, we will focus on developing e-shopping
channel for our health product business. We will also
keep our clubs, maintain large health products chain
stores’ shelving, and continue to join large-scale expos
and carnivals as our main distribution channels. Our
primary purpose is to control costs and to explore more
affordable new distribution channels to survive.
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HealthPlus shop in Sheung Shui
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
SUMMARY OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the "Group”) recorded revenue from
continuing operations of HK$958.2 million, representing
a year-on-year decline of 50.8% from HK$1,948.1 million
recorded in the previous financial year. Consolidated
profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to HK$221.4 million (2019: HK$578.0 million), a decrease
of 61.7% over the profit attained last year. The decline
was mainly attributable to (a) the exceptionally large
gain on disposals of self-used properties in Shatin,
subsidiaries and 40% interest of a residential property
in Sheung Wan of the Group in the preceding year;
(b) absence of profit from the Company’s aluminium
windows, doors and curtain walls business, through
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited which was
discontinued in the preceding year; (c¢) a reduction of
contribution from Construction Division as a result of the
drop in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020; and
(d) partially offset by gain on disposals of a residential
property in Sai Ying Pun and 50% interest of an industrial
property in Kwai Chung and launch of strata sale of a
residential property in Cheung Sha Wan for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

The basic earnings per share and diluted earnings
per share for continuing and discontinued operations
for the year were HK20.3 cents and HK20.3 cents,
representing decreases of 63.6% and 63.0% respectively
when compared with HK55.7 cents and HK54.9 cents
respectively last year.

As at 31 March 2020, the net asset value of the Group
amounted to HK$3,923.6 million (2019: HK$3,779.4
million), representing an increase of 3.8% over last
year. Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2020 was
HK$3.60 (2019: HK$3.46).
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Group Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are
regularly reviewed.

For day-to-day liquidity management and to maintain
flexibility in funding, the Group has access to facilities
from banks and an insurance company with an aggregate
amount of HK$3,070.4 million (HK$1,730.4 million was
secured by first charges over certain leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties and properties under
development for sale of the Group), of which HK$1,666.4
million bank loans have been drawn down and
approximately HK$284.3 million has been utilised mainly
for the issuance of letters of credit and performance
bonds as at 31 March 2020. The bank loans under these
banking facilities bear interests at prevailing market
interest rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy in managing its cash
balance, and endeavours to maintain its sound cash flow
generating capability, its ability to take on investments
and acquisition projects, in order to enhance shareholder
wealth. The total cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to HK$246.1 million as at 31 March 2020
(2019: HK$869.5 million), and accounted for 16.9% of the
current assets (2019: 52.5%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW A % [1]

During the year, the Group has a net cash outflow of
HK$313.3 million in its operating activities (mainly due
to the utilisation of provisions and decrease in trade and
other payables), a net cash outflow of HK$1,537.6 million
in its investing activities (mainly due to net cash outflows
on acquisitions of subsidiaries, purchase of investment
properties and loans to joint ventures, netting off net
cash inflows on disposals of subsidiaries, repayments of
loans from joint ventures and dividend received from
a joint venture), and a net cash inflow of HK$1,227.6
million in its financing activities (mainly due to new bank
loans raised, netting off dividends paid to shareholders
and repayment of bank loans). As at 31 March 2020,
net bank borrowings (total bank loans less total bank
balances and cash) amounted to HK$1,420.2 million and
the gearing ratio of the Group which was calculated
on the basis of the Group’s net bank borrowings to
shareholders’ funds was 36.2%. As at 31 March 2019, the
Group was in a net cash position, calculated on the basis
of total cash and bank balances less total bank loans.
As at year-end date, the Group was with a net current
liabilities of HK$999.9 million (2019: net current asset of
HK$378.0 million) and the current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) was 0.59 time (2019: 1.30
times).

With its cash holdings and available facilities from banks
and an insurance company, the Group's liquidity position
will remain healthy in the coming year, with sufficient
financial resources to meet its obligations, operation and
future development requirements.

Treasury Policy

The aim of the Group’s treasury policy is to minimise its
exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate and not to
engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative
products. Treasury transactions unrelated to underlying
financial exposure are not undertaken. Foreign currency
exposures of the Group arise mainly from the purchase
of goods. The Group will determine if any hedging is
required, on an individual basis, depending upon the size
and nature of the exposure, and the prevailing market
circumstances.
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In order to enhance the deployment of internal funds
with maximum benefit, to achieve better risk control, and
to minimise cost of funds, the Group’s treasury activities
are centralised and scrutinised by the top management.

The surplus cash which is generally placed with reputable
financial institutions is mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar. Most of the income, expenses, assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group therefore does not have any
significant exposure to gains or losses arising from the
movement of foreign currency exchange rate against the
Hong Kong dollar.

Shareholders’ Funds

At the year-end date, shareholders’ funds of the Group
were HK$3,923.6 million including reserves of HK$3,814.6
million, an increase of HK$144.2 million from HK$3,670.4
million at 31 March 2019. On that basis, the consolidated
net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2020 was
HK$3.60 per share, compared to the consolidated
net asset value of HK$3.46 per share as at 31 March
2019. The increase in shareholders’ funds was mainly
attributable to profits retained after payments of cash
dividends, exercise of share options and recognition of
equity-settled share-based payments.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW A % [1]

Capital Structure

The Group intends to keep an appropriate mix of equity
and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure over
time. As at 31 March 2020, the Group borrowed Hong
Kong dollar loans amounting to HK$1,666.4 million
from the banks (at 31 March 2019: HK$351.0 million).
The borrowings have been used as general working
capital for financing the properties for development
and investment purposes over the years. The maturity
profile of the loans spread over a period of two years
with HK$1,503.5 million repayable within the first year
and HK$162.9 million repayable within the second year.
Bank loans that are repayable more than one year after
the end of the reporting period but contain a repayment
on demand clause with carrying amount of HK$1,666.4
million have been classified as current liabilities. Interest
is based on Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a
competitive margin.

Major Acquisitions and Disposals

On 15 April 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, Great Virtue Ventures Limited,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to purchase a property, namely
Hay Nien Building located at No.1 Tai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, at a consideration of
HK$489,000,000. The transaction was completed on 8
May 2019.

On 15 July 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, Shangzhi Limited, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of its entire interests in General Mark
Holdings Limited, together with its wholly owned
subsidiary, Masswell International Limited (“Masswell”),
at a consideration of approximately HK$421,529,000.
Masswell is engaged in property investment. The major
asset of Masswell represented a serviced apartment
named "“One Eleven” situated at No. 111 High Street,
Hong Kong. The disposal was completed on 15 August
2019.
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On 16 July 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, Excellent Sincere Limited, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to acquire the entire issued and paid up share
capital and shareholder loan of Storage Portfolio Holding
Il Ltd, together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, (i)
Storage Holding | Ltd; and (ii) Storage Management Ltd,
together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, Minibox
Asia Limited and New Empire Properties Limited
(“Storage Management Group”), at a consideration of
approximately HK$737,884,000. The acquisition was
completed on 30 August 2019. Storage Portfolio Holding
Il Ltd was principally engaged in the self-storage business
through Storage Management Group and holds various
industrial properties portfolio located at Chai Wan and
Kwun Tong, Hong Kong through Storage Holding | Ltd.
Immediate after the completion of the acquisition on 30
August 2019, Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd entered
into a sale and purchase agreement on the same day with
an independent third party to dispose the entire interest
in Storage Management Group at a consideration
of approximately HK$16,194,000. The disposal was
completed on the same day. After the disposal of Storage
Management Group, the major asset of Storage Portfolio
Holding Il Ltd together with its wholly owned subsidiary,
Storage Holding | Ltd represented the industrial
properties located at Chai Wan and Kwun Tong.

On 16 August 2019, a joint venture in which the Group
has 50% interest entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to dispose
the entire issued share capital and shareholder’s loan
to Popular Castle Limited together with its wholly
owned subsidiaries which indirectly held Central
Industrial Building, located at 57-61 Ta Chuen Ping
Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories at a consideration
of approximately HK$1,079,933,000. The disposal was
completed on 23 March 2020.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW A % [1]

On 27 September 2019, a joint venture in which the
Group has 50% interest entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to acquire
the entire issued share capital and shareholder’s loan
to Harbour Sky (BVI) Ltd. which directly held the whole
block of property, namely Johnson Place, located at
No. 14-16 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong at
a consideration of approximately HK$948,112,000. The
acquisition was completed on 23 October 2019.

On 11 October 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to acquire the entire issued and paid up share capital
and shareholder loan of Excel Chinese International
Limited, which holds a serviced residence and hotel
business operated at the property in the name “Citadines
Mercer Hong Kong” at a consideration of approximately
HK$742,348,000. The acquisition was completed on 8
November 2019.

Collateral

As at 31 March 2020, certain leasehold land and
buildings, investment properties and properties under
development for sale of the Group, at the carrying value
of approximately HK$2,808.3 million (at 31 March 2019:
HK$942.2 million), were pledged to the banks to secure
the Hong Kong dollar loans of HK$1,366.4 million (at 31
March 2019: HK$351.0 million).

Performance Bonds
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had outstanding

performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$169,323,000 (2019: HK$136,941,000).
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Commitments RiE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the = RBHEHR  REBBHUTHAIE:
following commitment:

31.3.2020 31.3.2019
—B-BE TN
ZA=+—H Z=ZA=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BETT
Capital expenditure contracted for but T A EETYB 14 K5I
not provided in the consolidated EARRBERN T ENTH
financial statements in relation to:
Acquisition of investment properties UrBE RS Y% - 440,100

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with ~ ANEESGEEMEEPEBAERESELEL
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but  EM{EHEBRREMRERBER ZAEMT
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:
31.3.2020 31.3.2019
—ECEF —E-NE
=A=+-8B =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Commitments to provide loans R EFURE 620,020 382,857
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is implementing a manpower policy that
aims to maximise the output of existing staff resources
in order to achieve productivity gains. We believe that
through improving our staff’s job-related competencies,
our overall operational efficiency can be improved
without the need for substantial increase in headcount.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group (excluding its joint
ventures) had 463 full time employees. The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages, including
discretionary bonus and share option scheme, to its
employees, commensurable to market level and their
qualifications. The Group also provides retirement
schemes, medical benefits and both in-house and
external training courses for employees.

Employees and directors are remunerated according
to individual and the Group’s performance, industry
trends, prevailing market conditions, the nature of the
job and value creation. The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their development potential, merits
and competencies, and ensures that their remuneration
packages are at a reasonable market level. The directors,
full time employees and consultants of the Group are
entitled to participate in the share option scheme of the
Company. The principal terms of the share option scheme
are summarised in the Report of the Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
i Rk s

Good corporate governance practices are crucial to
enhancing shareholder value. With this in mind, the
directors of the Company are keen on maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. This is reflected in
terms of a quality board of directors (the “Board”) and
the emphasis on transparency and accountability.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Company has complied with all the Code Provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), except for
Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code which stipulates
that the chairman of the board should attend the annual
general meeting. The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Cha
Mou Sing, Payson, was unable to attend the Company’s
2019 annual general meeting due to other engagement.
The Managing Director took the chair of that meeting
in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the businesses of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), and assumes
responsibility for strategy formulation, corporate
governance and performance monitoring. It develops and
reviews the Group's strategies and policies, formulates
business plans and evaluates performance of the
operating divisions against agreed budgets and targets
through regular discussion on key and appropriate issues
in a timely manner. It also exercises a number of reserved
powers, including (i) approval of annual and interim
results and significant changes in accounting policy or
capital structure, risk management and internal control
systems, material transactions (in particular those which
may involve conflict of interests), major capital projects;
(ii) setting the Group’s remuneration policy, dividend
policy; (iii) appointment of directors; and (iv) supervision
of management and other significant financial and
operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the
Managing Director and the senior management, who
fulfill their duties within their scope of authority and
responsibility. Divisional heads are responsible for
different aspects of the businesses. Major functions
delegated to management include preparation of annual
and interim results; execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board; implementation of
adequate risk management and internal control systems;
and compliance with the relevant statutory requirements.
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All directors are kept informed of major changes that FTEESHEERANEBURYEREEEYR
may affect the Group’s businesses on a timely basis, and NEARBE RETESIAAMENERR
can avail themselves of the advice and services of the  R¥ FEBEREFKFEEANRIREH
company secretary so that the Board procedures and IEBSESF SRESTHEBTHREROE
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each SEEEREBRER ESBIYIEXENER —
director can have recourse to independent professional — Y1ERHHAQAT X fFe

advice in performing his duties at the Company’s

expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover ZAATGECREELEREBAERQATEE
for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal MABEEEENERTEH AZEERSRAE
actions against its directors and senior management HWEFEHEBENREREZHE-

arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition BEEG2AK

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary EBEEEHARKMTESSHEHANEIRE
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective  BRBEMUBEARQNT]  TEEFEHBILHRE
leadership of the Company and independence in decision EENERE (REENEER E) EERAF
making. The biographies of the directors (and their RIZEZEEREEIFEERSREEER
relationships, if any) are set out in the “Biographical B|—&iR X BRMWFEESHENTEE HE-
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section KR ERK-

under the “Report of the Directors” of this annual

report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,

experience and qualifications.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board at all REZE-ZZ-_FF=-A=+—-HLFE ES
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating  EFABRE A IRB EHRANEE BE
to the appointment of at least three independent non- ZEAV=FZBUFHTES HEETEREED
executive directors, representing at least one-third of the = Z— HPh—ZB U TESE R
Board. One of the independent non-executive directors, TEEEENEXERRS T EBENEIE
namely Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, possesses the appropriate EEER-

professional qualifications and accounting or related

financial management expertise.
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During the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board of the Company comprises the following
directors:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Dr. Zhang Wei
(appointed on 25 June 2019)
(also alternate director to Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson)
(appointed on 15 May 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

Dr. Sun Tai Lun

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.

Coming from diverse business and professional
backgrounds, the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors bring a wealth of
expertise and experience to the Board, which contributes
to the success of the Group. Through active participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all of them make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

RERRBEAFRAH ARAESSERE
UTES:

FETERE
EREELE

BITES

TR (BEFREE)
B4 (HLHE)
ERMELE

FHITES

BERELE

REEL
(R=ZZB-NFARAZTHHEZME)
(TAERBELEZBEES)
(R=ZZ-NFHEATHEBEEZME)

BAFITES
BRAEEE
g rEEL
BAfmEL

EXEE (RENE D) FERBELTRA
TREBERARRBHNFAEAREAR -

FUTESERBUFATESHEENTRER
BREBEES REESTREENEXNR
Rk <A EERREANY HEREE
H2REEFER FHREENZFRE
BREERS|EEAEESE URHEESE
SENE RERBEEAQATFRRERRZE
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All independent non-executive directors are free from
any business or other relationships with the Company.
The Company has received written annual confirmation
of independence from each independent non-executive
director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all independent non-executive directors
are independent within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson (Chairman of the Board)
indirectly owns as to 50% interest and Mr. Wong Sue Toa,
Stewart (Managing Director of the Company) together
with Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai (spouse of Mr. Wong Sue
Toa, Stewart) indirectly own as to an aggregate of the
remaining 50% interest in Queentex Industries Limited
and its subsidiaries. If in case a conflict of interest arises,
those directors or any of their close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) who have a material interest will
abstain from voting on the relevant resolution(s).

Save for the information (including the relationships,
if any, among the directors) as disclosed in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section under the “Report of the
Directors” of this annual report and the business
relationship between the Chairman and the Managing
Director as disclosed above, there is no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the directors and between the Chairman and the
Managing Director.

FEBNFATESRAQFILREEME
BEBRREMBER BB EWRAIE3 1345
RARABCEWEGEBLFNTES2FEBNL
MERRRE -ALDACHHERE 2B
AREMBBYFATESHHFS LHARBAM

EHRZBUME

ERBEL (ESEXF) HEEREAEEX
BRDBRHEMBERARS0%Em R EtHEkiE
(RRABPEFREE) ERIEHS LL (£t
AL ZER) AAEEREERT50%E -
ERNRTRE  NZSEEAHTMRZH
BA(ERRETRANVEBEERRNE S
MHERBRRERR -

BRAFHEFTEREEIPESRSRE
HEEEE] -—SRENEN (BRESZH
MER (M) ) REXFRE2TFRES
REECBNEBERN EE2BAREFE
ERAKE B EE A EMTE X5 X
BREMEAR HEAREE-
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Board Diversity

A board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
was adopted on 26 March 2013 by the Board and the
Nomination Committee will review at least annually
whether board diversity can be achieved. A summary of
the Board Diversity Policy is set out below:

When reviewing board diversity, the Nomination
Committee will consider board diversity from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, which form the measureable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will
also monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy and review and recommend revisions of the Board
Diversity Policy (where appropriate) to the Board to
ensure its effectiveness.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company established a Nomination Committee on
20 March 2012 to deal with matters in relation to the
appointment and re-election of directors.

Pursuant to the policy for nomination of directors
adopted by the Board on 14 March 2019, where
vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
will identify suitable individuals by making reference
to criteria including but not limited to character and
integrity, accomplishment, educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience
and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the
Company'’s needs, the diversity of the Board and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. New
directors are sought mainly through referrals or internal
promotion. The appointment of new directors or re-
election of directors is the decision of the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidates by the
Nomination Committee.

EEEHEZ T

EZEREZALER ([EFERESZ T
BEDR=-Z-=ZF=ZA=t+ BEE=RS
Ry THREZEEELEFRNESER
BEZTILREEER - EBEHNES TILEEN
BMEFHMLMT

ERNEEEHES R - REEETEHR
ZESHZRESEHESZ T BIEETR
RIER Fi  ERBBEES Bk EXE
B omEE-ABEBRBEN FRAESSHE
SR BENAGEER REEESTEE
REEENESTEENYT BRI
MESTRHEETEZ (WER) URRE
EEREZTTLEER BRI

EECEREREE

ARAR-ZB-ZF=ZAZ+HERIREER
B NUEERZINRERESEENERE

REBEEFEN-_Z-NF=ZA THERMN
REESRX EES2ATRE REEE
ERSEREEAR 2ZZRER BEER
RNEZRERBEANBERHERE R -HEE
= BXRER KR NE ERKERMHN
BE - AQANFEE - EFEREZTLEE
fAEBERFBRBMERTE - FEEETEUEN
FABRBALSASRE - HESZZEHESZ
ERDHESERRRERZESHERRE
AR AVEBIRE
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The Company’s circular sent together with this annual AATREBERAER—HFH2BRA HE
report contains detailed information of the directors AATHEBRITHRRBEASHESER
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual EEMNFMAER-

general meeting of the Company.

Chairman and Managing Director FREEEHAKE

The positions of the Chairman and Managing Director FEREZBHALESHHERBRAERTH
are held by Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson and Mr. Wong Sue  Eh4EF -EESCHEMA— D EAREZE
Toa, Stewart respectively. The Board has adopted a set FIREFEESELENABMBE-

of written terms setting out the roles and duties of the

Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Chairman provides leadership for the effective FRESEEEETS BRESSHEAEN
functioning of the Board in the overall strategic planning & SiEAEENBRERKEIRERE-
and development of the Group. With the support of HEEHALENSREBAENIET £E
the Managing Director and senior management, the T EERRKRESERKRIIZN TERITEN
Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the E¥ URBENBESSLZLAMTRNE
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable o

information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing

on issues arising at Board meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing EZ#AKEESHTLESSHENEZE B
objectives, policies and strategies approved by the HFREH HFESEAQIANEEEEREE
Board. He is in charge of the Company's day-to-day [RITEEREHBEE EERZRARAIE
management and operations. The Managing Director FHIE UIRSEESHHE-

is also responsible for formulating the organizational

structure, control systems and internal procedures and

processes for the Board’s approval.

Directors’ Induction and Development EEABBEIRER

Every newly appointed director is provided with SIEFETINESHIESHEBEANKREM L
necessary induction and information to ensure that WREHALNTANEBEREXRIEEENE
he has a proper understanding of the Company's f URT2HMNBEAREGERBEER EZE B
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities  BIRRFINEES  ARREREROESIEM L
under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. MR R EMAEEERBRAER - H %
The company secretary from time to time provides BEREXRNZHEN-

the directors with updates on latest development and

changes to the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and

regulatory requirements.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. A
summary of training received by the directors is as

follows:

%%EE%E‘/,J—?E%%?&E Lﬂéh:é&?i
MRENWHE SRR - EBEZ I EN
T

Training Areas

g |
Accounting/
Corporate Financial/
Governance/ Management

Updates on Laws, or Other
Rules & Regulations Professional Skills

¥R EE -EVAL
EEU&EWJH’J EER
B¥HEA Hih K ge
Non-executive Chairman EBITERE
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson BRBLE v v
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FiELE v/ v
(Managing Director) (EFHEHE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) Bt S5t4 (#4FHE) v/ v/
Mr. Lo Kai Cheong EMERE v v
Non-executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson EMELAE v/ v
Dr. Zhang Wei REEL v v
Independent Non-executive BYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe R & o v/ v
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 2 7RiE+ v/ v/
Dr. Sun Tai Lun BAmEL v v
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as
the guideline for securities transactions by directors and
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2020 or the period from the appointment date
to 31 March 2020 (for the director appointed during the
year).

Company Secretary

The company secretary, namely Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, is also
an executive director and the financial controller of the
Company. He has the day-to-day knowledge of the affairs
of the Company.

The company secretary plays an important role in
supporting the Board by ensuring good information
flow within the Board and that the Board policies
and procedures are duly followed. He also acts as the
secretary of the Board committees to ensure that all
records of meeting proceedings, discussion and decision
of such Board committees are properly kept. The
company secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the company
secretary has completed at least 15 hours’ professional
training by attending the continuing professional
development programmes as well as seminars covering
regulatory updates and professional knowledge about
company secretary duties organised by professional
bodies.

HEXZNEETA

AAREEMETRAM SR+ A LEHEITA
EFETESFXZWELESFA ([F2E=FA])
ERAEREERES (VREEELRARARHE
BIETESFRZMIES|

RozRESFLHARSHE EFTEIRA ®
ENBE_Z-_ZFTF=A=+—HLFER
REEEHHE_ZE-_ZEF=A=1+— Et
HE(RFRAEZENES) O BETEE
Al Z#R5E °

DNEMWE

NAMEEMERETBEQXTAHITESR
PEBE - WABRRAAEESEH-

NENEEXEESE T AEEEZAG U
BRESEHEZHEARRRY  URZH
BRESERXRNEF BT ETESEET
Kiagwi LEREESZEEENER
BRE WRMRECBEZERTF QAMWE
ENESEIFER-

REBZE-_Z_ZTF=F=1+—HILFE 27
WECTEREDISVNFHNEEE > SMFE
BERRFERSHSEEBEROAEE
ARRERNEIEREBLAARERENSE
EME-

6 6 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 4 3 8 ¥ #e o5 &

All directors could have access to the advice and services
of the company secretary to ensure that the Board
procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations
are followed.

BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Board Proceedings
The Board held four regular meetings and three non-
regular meetings during the year ended 31 March 2020

and the principal businesses transacted include:

o Assessing business performance and planning future
business directions;

o Approving interim and final results and reports;

e Approving business activities and property
transactions;

o Determining payment of dividend;

o Reviewing the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems of the Group;

o Approving the Company’s corporate social
responsibility report;

o Approving the appointments of non-executive
director and alternate director of the Company; and

o Approving the grant of share options to directors
and employees of the Group under the Company’s
share option scheme.

SRESHEBIANUBNEIREYE U
RRESTRFRMGEMLE RAURER
R -

EFERERTE

EEENER
REE-Z-_TF=A=+-BILFE &S
SRETTIORERGER = RFRRTE

TEREEEBHE:

o  EEBREANRREARREZERLMD;

o WEPHREZFREANRE

s WEXBIBDRUWERS

e EERBEZIKE.

e RNAKERREERAMEZRZSRH
B

o  WEAQAFOLEMHESSERE
e WMAERQATIHTESREBEETESZZE
T, 5%

o REAQFABRESE HEODSIEEHE
EREERHBRE-
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Meeting schedules are normally made available to the
directors in advance. Notices of regular Board meetings
are given to all the directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all the directors at
least 3 days (as far as practicable) before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary. The directors receive
regular supply of information about the business
activities, financial highlights and operations review
so that they are well informed prior to participation in
Board meetings.

The financial controller attended all regular Board
meetings and when necessary, other Board and
committee meetings to advise on business developments,
financial and accounting matters, statutory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects of the
Group.

According to current Board practice, any transaction with
a material amount will be considered and dealt with
by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The
Company'’s articles of association also contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material
interest.

CHERNNEXRBEFERLBISZEES
BRESEERERCBAYNERERA
EDAROMBESRY EREAMESER
zeggs A-RBELSEEA-

EEEERNMERMEEE TERIJSEN
R UREESERERESSHETAH (£
ATHERN) EP3REEREES USTES
HMEAEERFTNERR VBTN  EKRERE
HWEZEEFEENNBERTFHRE - BEES
NEBRESHEAFTENRIR - HBERTEBS
REEAENBIBRE -BEELESTHWRESA
BEKTH VBCEREBZDBENELR UL
BREENSHEESTTEHAN CEEQAMN
BEHte

NRBESHFEESEERSE TAFE
iR TE2RAMEEENZEEETR
UMAEBNERRR BEREABE X
RER CXEARAMEESHEFHESR-

REFZBSESENEN LEERSENX
5 HEERCHESSER HESEZR
REE - REAATANASERMI  HEF
EEYAMARSZHBEA(ERR EHRR)
ERTFRANRZEELFREANG B H
ESHARRRR BTEFAZSHRNEE
ABIR-
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has been
established since December 2001. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors
and Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a partner or former partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s existing external
auditor. Members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
Dr. Sun Tai Lun*

# independent non-executive director

The major duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

o Reviewing financial statements and reports and
considering any significant or unusual items raised
by the qualified accountant or external auditor
before submission to the Board;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor, approving their remuneration
and terms of engagement and reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;

o Reviewing and reporting to the Board on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems and associated procedures, with the
assistance of the Risk Management Committee and
the outsourced internal audit function;

BEREES

RRAANBEREEEN -_FZT-F+ZAK
Vo BEREEEH=ERUFHTESAN
THEFRELTHEEREESEF -NAR
RBELETRAEII0RQMGFERNBEEEXRE
RASTFREENMBEEER - EREES
BB IR DR RS EZEE (BE .
BEERSSMTINESBARAMNEERA -
BEREEENMENT

griREtL (ZEEZTE)"
BRAGE

BRfmEL

* BUFHTES

ERZEEENETERHENT:

EHMBERRRRE LHERZESS
Bl ZEAERS AR IMNERBETR T
ZEAERLAEEFIR;

s BEMR EFZAREEIMNEXRIMEER
EEEERHEE P A9 5N & B
PR AR AR ST F BE B SNEEAZ BUET H9 38
SHEFEEM

s HRBEEZEESERIIHARNIBFZINEE
MBI T » it A SR B Y B RS B SRS -
FElaEE R ARREZERE IR BRRER
RERERBR - UMESSER:
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Reviewing the Group’s operating, financial and
accounting policies and practices; and

Reporting to the Board on the matters in the CG
Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
and the major works performed are as follows:

Reviewing and recommending for the Board’s
approval the financial results and reports for the
year ended 31 March 2019 and for the six months
ended 30 September 2019;

Recommending to the Board the re-appointment of
external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2020;

Reviewing certain aspects of the internal control
systems of the Group; and

Assisting the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
evaluating, establishing and maintaining effective
risk management and internal control systems of
the Group.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended
31 March 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was
established on 20 March 2012. Members of the
Nomination Committee are as follows:

Mr. Chan Pak Joe (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Mr. Tai Sai Ho

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*

Dr. Sun Tai Lun*

# independent non-executive director

70
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The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
the following:

° Reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

o Identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship;

e  Assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors of the Company;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the
Company and succession planning for directors of
the Company in particular the Chairman and the
Managing Director; and

o Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the policy.

REZEENTERHEUT:

o ZEVOEFRIEZISHRE - ABRANK
(BfEFkEE - Al R R EEZ )
YR REEARDRAMNEERE Mk
FHNEPOESSREESR

e YEERSBERAUEEESNAL:
WHEREFRALTHEES  SRLE
ESERHESR

o FRALDABUFNITEZZHUM

o BMARAEBRZAIEHEME URELD
AES (LHEREIFRESREE)EF
FERMESERHER R

s RBRNEFEREZTCBERNRZBEMN
FIENERNITHEE
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The Nomination Committee held three meetings during RERXR BREZESHETT=ZREE BT
the year and the major works performed are as follows: MNEETHENT:

Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

Assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company;

Reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on the re-appointment of directors who are
subject to retirement from office by rotation at

s WRNEZSHRE  ABKEANK

o FRALRABUFNITEZZHUM

e MERDEBEEZEFZINALF
BERTHRREFAS LHEREIHN
2%,

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company;

e Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; and e MNEBEFEMESZTIEER R

e Assessing and making recommendations to the ¢ FREROEESEZRZTAATEHT
Board on the appointments of non-executive EEREBREES-
director and alternate director of the Company.

Remuneration Committee FHNEEE

The Company set up the Remuneration Committee in AATR-EENE+_ARIFNEZES
December 2004 which replaced the Bonus Committee UERR-ZEZE—FTAKNLIWAZE
established in December 2001. Members of the E -HFMMEESHHEWNT:

Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Dr. Sun Tai Lun (Chairman of the committee)* BAmiEL (ZE52LF)"
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FHEEE

Mr. Tai Sai Ho Bitxi4E

Mr. Chan Pak Joe* PRAB{E B4

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter? 2 FrEE L

* independent non-executive director tBVEHTES
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The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
include the following:

o Formulating remuneration policy and practices and
determining the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management; and

o Ensuring that no director or any of his associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) will participate in
deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the remuneration, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information such as key
economic indicators, market/sector trend, headcount and
staff costs.

The Remuneration Committee held five meetings during
the year and the major works performed are as follows:

e Approving the maximum bonus pool and the actual
bonus amount to be distributed to the executive
directors, senior management and other employees
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020;

o Reviewing and making recommendations to the
Board on the grant of share options to directors
and senior management of the Group under the
Company’s share option scheme;

o Reviewing and determining the salary freeze for the
executive directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for the year commenced 1
April 2020; and

o Reviewing and making recommendation to the
Board on the director fee for the newly appointed
non-executive director of the Company.

FHEESENETERENT:

s HEFMERRESR UNREBEETES
NEREBEAENHHEE K

e BEUBESEIHEMAHEA(ERR
EHRA) SREEASSHM -

FHEEERNERERN METELHEER
W5 THEBR BETHERSIRA: KU
B E N -

RER FMEESSHBETTERE
WEBITHEWT:
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Other Board Committees EHEEZES

In addition to delegating specific responsibilities to the EZGRTHEFERZEE REZEERT
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the MEESEHERSIN TRITUTESES

Remuneration Committee, the Board also established the g:
following Board committees:
Name of Committee Composition of Committee Role and Function of Committee
EZESEB EZEEZHEM ZEECvABRBE
General Business Committee All the executive directors of the To handle the Company’s
(established in April 2002) Company general business within a
—REKEES KRR EBHITES designated threshold
(R=ZBEZEZFAKT) ERETHERNEEARRNTZ
—REH
Property Acquisition/Disposal All the executive directors of the To handle the Company’s
Committee (established in Company acquisition/disposal of
April 2002) ARAREBYITES property within a designated
g HENEZEE threshold
(R=FEZFMALT) EREEHERNEEAQNTRAYEZ
kg e

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Property REZE-Z-_TFE=A=1+—HILFE W§E
Acquisition/Disposal Committee held one meeting for /HEWEZESRT—IREE MU ERER
approving a property transaction within a designated HEANIWERS -

threshold.
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Attendance Record of Directors and Committee

Members

The attendance record of each director at general
meeting, Board and committee meetings held during the

EERZEENEHERLE

REBEZZ-ZF=-A=1+-HLEFE 8F
EHFERTHRRAS ESEREEEER

year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below: MR EEESIT -
Nomination Remuneration
Annual General Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee
Meeting' Board Meetings" Meetings" Meetings" Meetings"
RR Ezg ERZEES REZE® FMzSe
Name of Director ESps BFXRE e 4 g5 gy gy
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson* ERBEE on 7 NA T8 f° N/A R N/A REE AL
(Chairman) (/)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart THERE 17 i NA R 8 8 33 5/5
(Managing Director) (EEH4E)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho BEREE 1n i NA R 8 8 33 45
(General Manager) (4B45H)
Mr. Lo Kai Cheong ERELE 1" 7 N/A i N/A T L N/A T L
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson* BERE R 0N 617 NA T8 e N/A R N/A REE AL
Dr. Zhang Wei* R 1" 5/5 NIA 38 N/A 38 e N/A 38
Mr. Chan Pak Joe* BRIk EE? n 1 22 313 55
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter® g rEEL 17 i n 33 5/5
Dr. Sun Tai Lun? BAfmEL 1" 57 by ViE} 45
Notes: Fff

I The annual general meeting was held on 27 August 2019.
The auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
attended such meeting.

Il During the year, four regular Board meetings were held.

.  Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit

Committee.

IV.  Mr. Chan Pak Joe is the chairman of the Nomination

Committee.

IV.

ZRREFAER-Z-NAFNA=TtH
BT - ARRALBENELY « AER S SFHAI(T
HETZKRE-

RER ARRAHBTTHNRESEERS
AE%O

BrRETAEREEEERE-

REETERREZEGERE-
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V. Dr. Sun Tai Lun is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

VI. A meeting attended by Mr. Cha’s alternate is included.

VIl. Dr. Zhang Wei has been appointed as non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 25 June 2019.

* non-executive director

# independent non-executive director

A the director is not a member of the relevant committee

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviews their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. During the year,
the Board, as supported by the Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls. The Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the
achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals.
The risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are considered effective and adequate.

V. BEARETAFHEEEEE-

VI. BREEEECBEFEESHEN-REE-

VI. REBLTE-Z-NFAAZT+EAEEZ
EERQBFEHTES-

* FHTES
# BYFHITES

4 RESUFEHEEEENE

B B BE R 0 B G 42

EXEHEREREERREERNIREEE
AGRBAHEBRME -RER TEXEES
REBEEZEENIET ESSHAIEEH
MERMBEARERESZR 2 EREEUR AR
ERRASCERMETFEER BEMBE -

LENSHAEE FAEEzREBEERNIME
ERGEANTFEEARERRLANBLRE
HEE (EFBYH) 2RE B2 (EFT2H
BRIRGRR AR AR AEEBERRE
EXRERBB -AEBzAREERAE
BEEGREARBRRTR
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During the year and subsequent to the year end, the
Board engaged external consultants and professionals
to assist the Company in performing risk assessment
and to conduct an agreed review over the Group’s
internal control systems for evaluating the effectiveness
of the systems. No significant risk issues were identified
and appropriate measures have been taken to address
the identified areas for improvement. The Company
adopted a risk management policy and formed the
Risk Management Committee chaired by the Managing
Director and with members comprising the General
Manager and various divisions’ senior staff members.
Systems and procedures are put in place to identify,
evaluate, manage and monitor the risks of different
businesses and activities. Regular monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems is mainly
performed by each of the key divisions/business units
who are required to conduct risk self-assessment and to
submit risk assessment results and action plans to the
Risk Management Committee. The Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee monitor and assess
the risk management systems and the risk management
issues, support and advice from external consultants and
professionals (internal audit function as outsourced) to
perform independent reviews on the risk management
systems are sought as and when required. Review on the
risk management and internal control systems has to be
performed at least annually to assess the effectiveness of
the systems in monitoring and managing risks.

The Company has also maintained a tailored governance
structure with clear lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority
to the senior management, who are accountable for
the conduct and performance of the respective business
divisions under their supervision.

RERRRFEEBR ESSEEIMNIBEBK
EEATHBIA R RET AR WHARE
BeAMERERGETREEMUFLRS
ZEMME-HEBRRERRREE MHACSH
B2 BRI T BERREE - A Q
AERMEREERR YR AREERS
B HESAKEEIERE HEEFEEAKE
REMBFEANSABE CRUZEERER
DU R APk EEREERER  URE
B TEHREENMERHEHNE
REAMREBRABEZRS  SERBA
AR AT b B AL SRR EER
RTB R TRAREEZESHEMH FX
ZEEKARERZESEEERTMARE
EZGREBRERSHE  URNFEERSRIMNG
BERERALT (SMHBOABELREE) 23
BERER UHEBREERRSKETEVER-
REREERAREZRRAZLESFEST
EH FHEZERANEE R EER RS E
ZHEMME-

RRABTEEF—ESENELRRE HBE
BRBENAE HeREEABSNEERE
RTABEENRE REPEEREEENE
BEHPIZEEMRAB[E-
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The directors review monthly management reports on
the financial results, statistics and project progress of
each business division. Monthly management meetings
are held to review business performance against budgets,
forecasts and risk management strategies. Any major
variances are highlighted for investigation and control
purposes.

A centralised cash management system is maintained to
oversee the Group's investment and borrowing activities.
There are established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. The aim is to keep
the expenditure level in line with the annual budget
and within the cost budget of an approved project.
Expenditures are subject to overall budget control with
various approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each manager and officer. Depending
on the nature and value, procurement of certain goods
and services are required to go through the tendering
process. No individual in the Group, irrespective of their
rank and position, are allowed to dominate the entire
expenditure process from commitment to payment.

The Group also regulates the handling and the
dissemination of inside information to the public in an
equal and timely manner in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. Senior management executives
of the financial control functions of the Group are
delegated with responsibilities to control and monitor
the proper procedures to be observed on the disclosure
of inside information.

EXTEENSANEEERS BREEH

DENFBRE S REEEE - BANRE

TEEESR UREE BRAREMEER

%ﬁf%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁmﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁEEME
MEFRERERE-

FEBHES—EPRESEERS UEEX
SENRERMEEEE - — R FIHLERIZHIF
XMESIREFCAREY - BREREMAIK
FREFERERSESHENEE 2HEE
AR P AZBBEREEFNRE MA
BEEERFTASEBEHES TEAHLE
ER-REHMEREE BEETEMRR
ﬁ%%&%%h&°$%lma —fEA (R

WEERRBER) WBFBEREHAERN
ﬁ%%@ﬁiﬂ%o

REBTRBEREERERFEERE Wik
RABEBEQAFERBERTARAL KK
B FEFRELSRERTRASERT
BEZFREENABEERERABT ZE
ERRF-
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards have been adopted, appropriate
accounting policies have been applied, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made.
The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company are
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this annual report.

HESHMEBRRZIRE

ESTELERUGEUBRR -EREGSH
BHEREF EETCRATBUHRELEL
FR&E 2SR LEHSEMEEN
B ) (5 o SMNERBETN A D RGEEWH|RE
ZHRESERMI R AN FI]| B LR BENRE
—HiA e

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 1% B4 B %77 A
The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the HEZEZZ-_ZF=A=1+-—HLFE XQF
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out  X{t/MNEBZEEN 2 FHENE ST -
below:
HK$000
BETFT
Audit Services E R 3,580
Non-audit Services: FEZRT
Reviewing the financial results and report for BREBEZE-_ZE-NFNA=1H
the six months ended 30 September 2019 LERERZHMBEEERRE 660
Professional services rendered in relation MR BIRMCFERKE
to transactions 4,194
Taxation and other services E & H RS 300
TOTAL piog-t:] 8,734
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DIVIDEND POLICY B R ER

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 14 March  AATERZZE—NE=ZF+HNAKRHKE
2019 setting out the principles and guidelines relating Bk G HEJEBEOAQXAREKEIR  TREH
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net ZREFEFMEAREZFEAIKIES -EZET
profits as dividends to the Company’s shareholders. In ERBRER EESHEEEAEETIEE:
recommending or declaring dividends, the Board shall

take into account the following factors of the Group:

(i) financial results; (i) BIFEZELE;

(i) cash flow situation; (i) BERER;

(iii) availability of distributable profits; (iii) A2IRREAY T ABER
(iv) business conditions and strategies; (iv) ZERBARR KRS ;

(v) future operations and earnings; (v) RIREZBEMUNE

(vi) cash requirements; (vi) BEEXK;

(vii) expected capital requirements and expenditure  (vii) FEHIEARERKR X HEHE;
plans;

(viii) interests of shareholders as a whole; (viii) REREBEEFZ

(ix) any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of (ix) FARBREERE,SKENRS; &
dividends; and

(x) any other factors that the Board may consider (x) EFSUERABEBENETAEMEE-
relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to EZEFTERITKREBEK-
time.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum
for exchange of views between the shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as Chairmen
of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the Board or the respective committees, and
where applicable, the independent Board committee, are
available to answer questions at the general meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice
of annual general meeting, the annual report and
the circular containing information on the proposed
resolutions will be sent to shareholders at least twenty
clear business days before the meeting. Voting at annual
general meeting or other general meeting will be
conducted by way of a poll. The results of the poll will be
published on the day of general meeting by posting on
the Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s websites.

BRREFNRREERR

KABRHNBRRAEARRRESSRE—E
XRBERNFE -ESEXFEREREES
REZEERFMESENEE (A MR
FAEEERERESENHMRE) UK
BYEEZaE (WER) TERRRAS L
fREEIRE -

RBRRAEL SHERSESEBRLRE
R BEENEEZESE-

RERAFELEXERTAU RRBFAEE
EERREAREZSRERERENZER
BRAERTAZELE-TEEXEARR
R RRBFASHEMBRRASHEURE
FRETRR REERENRRASERE
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

General meetings shall be convened:

(i) on the written requisition of any two members of
the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3
On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong), specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company; or

(ii) on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing
Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
the meeting may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

BRRRBIAERERRASRHE
]

RTHIERTABRRRAS:

() AATREAMEBEBRREDEARBAEEN
FTERER (FBHADHAMREME3
RREES 228 REEEER &
HEERAYIARESEW  WHIEHERW
ATHE HREERNATRERE
REBARFEERNARTARRAG L
BENEAQRTACHERETDPR+D2
— =

(i) EA—ZBRRALEAWAQTRRE
(FEHAREA) BERQATARE BN EZHR
ER (BBHADHAMREAN RS
B —H228) X EEEER  EMER
BHIBAEEN LHIZHERHALE
E HRHEERNATIRERERERSA
BEERRARTARREAGE LRENK
NACHERETDLRT D Z2—-

HESSRANERERZ2IBRNEXBR K
T RHEHBROATRETFERERFZEL
HBFNEMATTATURESEARRKR
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Procedures for Nomination of Director

Any shareholder who wishes to nominate a person to
stand for election as a director at general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the
company secretary at the Company’s principal office in
Hong Kong (22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street,
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong) within
the period commencing on the day after despatch of the
notice of a general meeting appointed for election of
director and ending no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such meeting:

(i) notice in writing signed by the shareholder of his/
her intention to propose such person for election
(the “Nominated Candidate”);

(ii) notice in writing signed by the Nominated
Candidate of his/her willingness to be elected; and

(iii) the biographical details of the Nominated
Candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules for publication by the Company.

Constitutional Documents

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2020.

REESZEF

BREMEBREESENALRBRRAELSER
Ex ANEEETEREREENRRAE
BETRBABTERBERGETHBAT
ER7TRLEMBERN BREETIXHEERLD
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Shareholders’ and Other Stakeholders’ Enquiries

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Enquiries from investors
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
Shareholders and other stakeholders may communicate
with the Board by addressing their enquiries and
concerns to the company secretary through the following
channels:

By mail: Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
Attention: Company Secretary
22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1
3 On Kwan Street
Shek Mun
Shatin, New Territories
Hong Kong

By email: info@hanison.com
By telephone: (852) 2414 3889
By fax: (852) 2490 3341

In addition, if shareholders have any enquiries about
their shareholdings and entitlement to dividend, they can
contact the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company
using the details below:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.,, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8628

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

To promote effective communication, the Company
also maintains a website at www.hanison.com, where
extensive information and updates on the Company’s
business developments and operations, financial
information and other information are posted.

BRRRHMEFDENEH
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
R e

The board of directors (the “Board”) presents its report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures are set out in notes 53, 21 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement (on pages 6 to 12), Operations Review (on
pages 13 to 48), Financial Review (on pages 49 to 57) and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Financial Highlights (on page 5) and Operations
Review (on page 13) of this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management and
particulars of the Group’s material events occurred after
the year end date are disclosed in notes 51 and 54 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on page 131.

An interim dividend of HK2.5 cents per share amounting
to HK$27,273,000 were paid to the shareholders during
the year.

The Board has recommended the declaration of a final
dividend of HK5.0 cents per share for the year ended 31
March 2020 amounting to not less than HK$54,546,000 to
the shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members in Hong Kong and the register of members in
the Cayman Islands on 3 September 2020. The proposed
final dividend will be paid on 15 September 2020
following approval at the annual general meeting.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 136.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’'s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 March 2020 comprised the
aggregate of share premium and retained profits of
HK$777,681,000 (2019: HK$770,673,000).

Under the articles of association of the Company,
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits
of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any
reserves set aside from profits which the directors of the
Company determine is no longer needed. Dividends may
also be declared and paid out of share premium account
subject to a solvency test as set out in section 34 of the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

foti fie
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company establishes and delegates the corporate
social responsibility committee (the “CSR Committee”) to
formulate the Group’s environmental and social policies
and strategies as well as to oversee the implementation
undertaken by the Safety and Environmental Department
and Corporate Social Responsibility and Communications
Department. For more details of the Group’'s
performances and management approach regarding
the environmental and social aspects, please refer to
the environmental, social and governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 which will
be published on the websites of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the
Company on or before 19 October 2020.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group has adopted environmental and energy
policies in accordance with ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System, certified by Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency, since 2002 and ISO 50001
Energy Management System, certified by Hong Kong
Certification Services International Limited, since 2013.
These policies state clearly the direction and guidelines
for corresponding subsidiaries of the Company to follow
on a gradual basis.
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We strive for better environmental performances
every year. In 2019/2020, our performances were
widely recognised. Our Construction Division obtained
several green awards such as the Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence (Construction Industry) —
Certificate of Merit; Considerate Contractors Site Award
Scheme - Outstanding Environmental Management
and Performance Award (Public Works-New Works) —
Merit; and the Hong Kong Construction Association
- Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards
— Environmental Merit Award 2019; while our head
office sustained the Indoor Air Quality Certificate
(Excellent Class) issued by the Environmental Protection
Department.

Social Policy and Performance

The corporate social responsibility policy statement
was renewed and signed by the Managing Director in
March 2020. It has outlined the Group’s strengthened
commitment on sustainability covering both the social
and environmental aspects, in view to achieve long-term
benefits of our stakeholders and the community. The CSR
Committee regularly reviews the statement to ensure
it aligns with our Company vision, mission and values,
the up to date regulatory requirements and evolving
stakeholders’ expectations.

We have been investing in the community by means
of organising or participating in community activities
serving the underprivileged, elderly, children, youth and
schools. Sponsorship and donation in terms of financial
or in-kind support are made for charity organisations
or non-government organisations. With the support
from the Group’s staff and their family members, our
corporate volunteer team continues to grow and make
contribution to the society.
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R-“Z-NFREERR MEAMNVAIE

SREREZHEBENEANZREEZRERSE
(FHAR) °
HEHERRE

EERAKERN-_Z-_ZHE-REHAUKEDL
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with the relevant
laws and regulations imposed by the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). We conduct on-
going review of the newly enacted or revised laws and
regulations and provide relevant trainings and guidance
to the staff on a need basis.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
BUSINESS PARTNERS AND OTHERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all
stakeholders and endeavours to engage them through
different initiatives and channels. In particular, we value
our human capital. We review regularly and provide
competitive compensation and benefits, remuneration
packages, training programmes, and staff engagement
activities to attract, nurture and retain talents and
employees.

A long-standing relationship with business partners
brings benefits for the Group as well as suppliers and
customers. In addition to maintaining trusted business
relationship, we also engage our business partners in the
pursuit of better performance in business operations,
environmental impact, and community investment.

The Group encourages staff volunteering especially in the
community which we operate in. Positive site-community
relationship is definitely our priority. We maintain close
communications with the stakeholders in the community
and work closely with relevant parties to initiate
programmes aiming to address the community concerns.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the Company’s existing share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) which was adopted and
became effective on 21 September 2011, all directors
(including independent non-executive directors), full-
time employees and consultants of the Company, its
subsidiaries and/or its associated companies/associates are
eligible to participate in the Scheme.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the participants
who have been granted options under the Scheme
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interest in the
Company and to encourage them to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issuance

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the number
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme, subject to renewal as
approved by the shareholders of the Company.
Upon the refreshment of the Scheme mandate limit
at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 23 August 2016, the maximum number of
new share options that can be granted under the
Scheme was 103,654,057 (the “Refreshed Share
Option Limit”). As at the date of this annual report,
the total number of shares that may be issued
under the remaining Refreshed Share Option Limit
is 3,363,557, representing approximately 0.31% of
the number of the Company’s shares in issue at that
date.

MR Bx fE st &
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“E-—HFAAZT-HERARER A
DRCHWBARR SEBE AR HEA
ZITBES (BEBYFATES) 2HE
ENERNE2EHEFEZERK-

ZEElZENRBARBZATAERBRE
URBARAEERZSEE  REBALXRQ
AfEAERHE YRBSRELRLQT
RERREEANZ BHRSEFQDARER
Bz EE-

(a) AIHBITZROBAE LR

RIBEZE IR A D BAMEMEMET SRS
WETEBIRERITEM A FEITHRD
2H LR TEBEBRZTEREZBR
AFEBITROEE 210%  HEAELK
ANEREAEEFH -REAATE=ZZ— R
FNAZ+=HETZRRAFKE L
BT ERERER  RIBEZT 8T
BF2HBEREZE LR A103,654,057
B (TREHIBRERTE]) -HRAFEHA
H RIBRA T R E B IR PR BE AT RE 21T
2 B8 8 53,363,557 th A A TR
ZHABBITROEE £0.31% °

LIS S e B AT PR AT 2019/2020 42 $: 91



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS # = €1 ¥ 15 &

(b)

92

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the number of
the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.
Taking into account the remaining Refreshed Share
Option Limit to subscribe for 3,363,557 shares and
the 61,424,000 shares that may be issued upon
exercise of the outstanding share options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme, the
cumulative total number of shares that may be
issued under the Scheme is 64,787,557 shares,
representing approximately 5.94% of the number of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of this
annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

(1) The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each participant (including both exercised
and unexercised options) under the Scheme or
any other share option schemes adopted by
the Company in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the number of the Company’s
shares in issue unless otherwise approved by
the shareholders of the Company.

(2) Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)), would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to
be granted to such person in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of the
grant:

(b)
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(9]

(d)

(e)

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the number of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

(ii) bhaving an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant in excess of
HK$5.0 million,

such grant of option shall be subject to prior
approval of the shareholders of the Company
who are not connected persons of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

Period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

Within ten years from the date on which an option
is granted or such shorter period as the Board or the
relevant committee thereof may specify.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised

At the time of granting an option, the Board or
the relevant committee thereof must specify the
minimum period(s) (if any) and achievement of
performance target(s) (if any), for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised in whole or
in part.

Period open for acceptance of an option

The offer of grant of an option (of which the
date of grant must be a business day of the Stock
Exchange) must be accepted within 14 days after
the date of grant.

(9]

(d)

(e)
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(f) Amount payable upon acceptance of the
option

(9)

(h)

94

A consideration of HK$1 shall be paid upon the
acceptance of the option.

Basis of determining exercise price of the
option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than
the highest of:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days of the Stock Exchange
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

the nominal value of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on
20 September 2021 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme.

(f)

(9)

(h)
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During the year, a total of 53,174,000 shares was
granted in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme. Details of the movement of share options
granted under the Scheme during the year were as

follows:

FNREZT NG AR EHE

1753,174,0000% f& 12

HeBREZEBFHRNT

cFRZATEET R

Approximate
percentage of
Balance Granted Exercised Balance issued share
as at during the during the asat capital
Exercise 1.4.2019 year year Lapsed 31.3.2020 (Note iv)
Category or price R=g-n% (Note ii) (Noteii)  duringthe R=F-FF (HERORA
Name of pa & rticipant Date ofﬁgrant pershare  Exercise period (lote ) B-B A RERTR year ZAZt-B  BOESL
SEERAGHE RHB BROTEE TRABWH) ek (#itii) (i) RERXR 2t (Hitiv)
Directors of the Company
AREZES
Cha Mou Sing, Payson 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18 10 2019 t0 17.10. 2024 - 10,909,000 - - 10,909,000 0.99%
EHE “E-AFTATNR #1167 WETATNBE
3 mETATLR
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart 18.10.2019 _HK$1.16 18 102019 to 17.10.2024 - 10,909,000 - - 10,909,000 0.99%
tE “E-AETATNA B¥1L6T  ZE-AETATNBE
“ECRETATEA
Tai Sai Ho 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.49%
Ats ZZ-AETATAR EMuen ZE-AETATNBE
ZECMETATLA
Lo Kai Cheong 18.10.2019 HK$1.16  18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - 3,272,000 - - 3,272,000 0.29%
£ ZE-AFTATAR AEuen ZE-AFTATNRE
ZECRETATLR
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson 5.9.2017 _HKS1.54 5.9.2017t04.9.2022 5,192,000 - - - 5,192,000 0.47%
iHE “E-tFnAIA B¥1saT ZE-tENRRAZE
“EZTEARBA
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.49%
ZZ-AETATAR EMuen ZE-AETATNBE
ZECMETATLR
Zhang Wei 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18 102019t0 17, 102024 - 100,000 - - 100,000 0.01%
& ZZ-AETATAE EEL6T NETATNEE
= 3 mETATLR
Chan Pak Joe 18.10.2019 _HK$1.16 18 10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.09%
303 “E-NETATIE BE116T Z-NETATNBE
ZEImEt AR
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18 10 2019 10 17.10.2024 - 905,000 - - 905,000 0.08%
47 ZE-NETETNB RE1.167 WEHATNBE
“RETETLR
Sun Tai Lun 18.10.2019 HK$1.16  18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.09%
NG “E-AETATAE BEuer ZE-AETATARZ
ZMFTATLA
5,192,000 39,183,000 - - 44,375,000
Employees of the Group 26.11.2014 HK$0.96  26.11.2014 t0 25.11.2019 915,300 - (93,100) (822,200) 0 0.00%
KENORA SRUmEL-AztA  BR%R  C§-BEI-PoiAAE
A ZE-AFt-ATEA
9.2017 HK§1.54  5.9.2017 10 4.9.2022 3,550,500 - - (345,500) 3,205,000 0.29%
‘3 tEnARH BB ZE-tEARAEZ
ZRCCEMAMNA
18.10.2019 . HK$1.1_6 18 10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - 13,991,000 - (82,000) 13,909,000 1.27%
“E-pEtAHAR BELen  Z-AETATNAZ
ZRIEETATLA
4,465,800 13,991,000 (93,100) (1,249,700) 17,114,000
Total 9,657,800 53,174,000 (93,100) (1,249,700) 61,489,000

X
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Notes: B EE

(i) The share options vested immediately on the () BREXRZEELBHINEE-
respective dates of grant.

(i) The closing price of the shares of the Company (i) A2FIRORBERLE AP ZWHE
immediately before the date of grant was HK$1.12 AERBE112TT
per share.

(iii) The weighted average closing price of the (i) AOTRORBEERERETEBSA
Company’s shares immediately before the exercise ZMEFHRHEARSRBYE1.32T-

dates of the share options was HK$1.32 per share.

(iv) The percentage is calculated based on the total (ivy BOLNDREAQRIR-_ZE-ZF
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 ZEA=ET—HEBTROALHE (A
March 2020 (i.e. 1,090,924,676 shares). 1,090,924,6768% ) 5T & °
CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS RS RS ECERN

OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no BREMFTIFEEN RZB-_EF=A=1+—
outstanding convertible securities, warrants or similar H > A 5] AR 1 R AT R AT IR AR 38 25
rights as at 31 March 2020 and there has been no issue or  FRREBHBOUEFR c RANFEZ R - W EIIT
exercise of any convertible securities, warrants or similar HATEEMATRIRES  RRER B
rights during the year. F o

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF BE HEXXBONLTES
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its HRX AAFRHEFAHBLARLEEE - H

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the EHBEEFAARATz LHHES-
Company’s listed securities.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Dr. Zhang Wei
(appointed on 25 June 2019)
(also alternate director to Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson)
(appointed on 15 May 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

Dr. Sun Tai Lun

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, Mr. Lo Kai
Cheong and Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. All
remaining directors of the Company continue in office.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2020 are set out in note 14(i) to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2020,
the emoluments of the senior management, whose
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
below and include one of the five highest paid
individuals analysis presented in note 14(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements, fell within the
following bands:

ESRATIMS

BE-Z-FEE=-A=+—-HALFE EBZ
M€ 2 FBEEIINGEE M BERRMTT14G) o
BE-Z-_ZF=-A=+—-HBLFE 54T
BE-F M (HERFRENTXEERS
REEEBERE|—H EPEENEESHER
EHFAMNERNEERSHFALTINAN
—BAL)BIALLT AR

Number of individuals

AE
Emoluments of 2020 2019
senior management by bands EREEE ZF A5 —E-EF —E-NEF
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 7 %5 1,500,000.T 2 3
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 7c-7%%2,000,0007T 3 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 7 %2,000,001 7T #52,500,0007T 2 2
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 78 %52,500,001 7T %53,000,000.T - 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 7 153,000,001 7T-7% 3,500,000 3 -
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 7B %53,500,001 7T #£4,000,0007T - 2
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 78 %54,000,001 7T %54,500,000T - 1
HK$7,500,001 — HK$8,000,000 717,500,001 T8 #8,000,0007T - 1

HK$8,000,001 — HK$8,500,000

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
LISTING RULES

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson ceased as a non-executive
director of China International Capital Corporation
Limited with effect from 28 February 2020. Apart
from this, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

78,000,001 T—% #8,500,000T

BRELTHUNE13.51B(1)EHE
EETHZRENER

EMEAEBR-_Z_FEF_A-tTNHEF
BEAHEBEBREHBROERARIFRTE
FoRRtzih BIEEMEMERNAERE LT
$FAIZE13.51B()IE T LUK E -
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, aged 77, is the Chairman and
non-executive director of the Company. He joined the
Group in 1989 and has extensive experience in property
development. Mr. Cha is the chairman and executive
director of HKR International Limited (“HKRI"”) and the
chairman and non-executive director of Million Hope
Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope”). He is an
independent non-executive director of New World
Development Company Limited (“NWDCL"), Eagle Asset
Management (CP) Limited (the Manager of Champion
Real Estate Investment Trust (“CREIT”)) and Hongkong
International Theme Parks Limited (owner and operator
of Hong Kong Disneyland Resort), and a director of a
number of public and private companies in Hong Kong
and overseas. The securities of HKRI, Million Hope,
NWDCL and CREIT are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Cha holds an honorary doctorate degree of Social Science
from City University of Hong Kong. He is a Justice of
the Peace. He is a member of One Country Two Systems
Research Institute Limited, a governing board member
of China-United States Exchange Foundation, a board
member of the Real Estate Developers Association
of Hong Kong, the chairman of Qiu Shi Science &
Technologies Foundation, a trustee of Sang Ma Trust
Fund and an honorary trustee of Oregon State University
Foundation. He is a brother of Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson who is a non-executive director of the Company.
Mr. Cha is also a director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
("CCM Trust”), CCM Capital Corporation (“CCM Capital”)
and LBJ Regents Limited (“LBJ"”), and the executive
chairman of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”). Each of
CCM Trust, CCM Capital, LBJ and Mingly is a substantial
shareholder of the Company discloseable under Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO").

EESREREEREE
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Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, aged 74, joined the Group
in 1989 and is the Managing Director of the Company.
Mr. Wong also serves as the chairman of the General
Business Committee and the Property Acquisition/
Disposal Committee; and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong is the deputy chairman and non-
executive director of Million Hope, whose securities
are listed on the Stock Exchange. Before he joined the
Group, he was a director for several listed companies
and a director of HKRI (whose securities are listed on the
Stock Exchange) until his resignation in December 2001.
Mr. Wong is also a director of all the subsidiaries of the
Group. He has extensive experience in the construction
and real estate fields. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree
in science from San Diego State University and a master
degree of science in civil engineering from Carnegie
Mellon University in the United States of America. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers (MHKICM).

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (Alias: David), aged 68, is an executive
director and the General Manager of the Group. Mr.
Tai also serves as a member/the acting chairman of
the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee; and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tai joined the Group in
1989 and has extensive experience in public and private
sectors of the building and civil engineering industries
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tai is a non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of
the Group. Mr. Tai holds a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University
in Macau, a master degree in construction management
from University of New South Wales in Australia and a
bachelor degree in civil engineering from National Cheng
Kung University in Taiwan. Mr. Tai is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD) and the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (FHKICM).
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Mr. Lo Kai Cheong (Alias: Casey), aged 69, has been an
executive director of the Company since December 2017.
Mr. Lo joined the Group in 1996 and is the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Group.
He also serves as a member of the General Business
Committee and the Property Acquisition/Disposal
Committee of the Company. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has extensive
finance and accounting experience in various industries.
He holds a bachelor of business degree in accounting and
a master degree in business administration from Edith
Cowan University in Australia. Mr. Lo is a member of
CPA Australia (CPA (Aust.)) and a fellow of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (FCPA) and The
Association of International Accountants (FAIA).

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, aged 68, has been a non-
executive director of the Company since November
2001. Mr. Cha has over 40 years of experience in venture
capital and investment management and is currently
the chairman of C.M. Capital Advisors (HK) Limited.
He is a non-executive director of HKRI and ceased as a
non-executive director of China International Capital
Corporation Limited (“CICCL") with effect from 28
February 2020. The securities of HKRI and CICCL are listed
on the Stock Exchange. He is a director of CCM Capital
and LBJ, and a non-executive director of Mingly. Each of
CCM Capital, LBJ and Mingly is a substantial shareholder
of the Company discloseable under Part XV of the SFO.
Mr. Cha is also an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a
number of other companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
He is a member in non-profit organisations including Qiu
Shi Science & Technologies Foundation, Moral Education
Concern Group, a member of the Finance Committee
and of the Council of The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. He is a brother of Mr. Cha Mou
Sing, Payson who is the non-executive Chairman of the
Company.
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Dr. Zhang Wei, aged 65, has been a non-executive
director of the Company since June 2019 and an
alternate director to Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson the non-
executive Chairman of the Company since May 2019. He
is currently an executive director and the chief executive
officer of Mingly. Mingly is a substantial shareholder of
the Company discloseable under Part XV of the SFO. Dr.
Zhang is an independent non-executive director of Dadi
International Group Limited and an alternate director to
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson the non-executive chairman
of Million Hope, the securities of these companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prior to joining Mingly in
2011, Dr. Zhang had taught Development Economics and
Chinese Economy at the University of Cambridge in the
United Kingdom since 2000. He was also the founding
director of Economic Research Centre for Greater
China in Cambridge. In 1980s, Dr. Zhang worked as a
government official in the PRC, among the posts he held,
there were Director of Mayor’s Office in Tianjin, Secretary
of the Municipal Committee of the Communist Youth
League, Chairman of Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone (TEDA), and Chairman of Committee
of Foreign Trade and Economic Relations of Tianjin
Municipal Government. He was also a member of the
13th National Congress of the Chinese Communist Party.
He obtained a bachelor degree in economics from Peking
University, a master degree in public administration
from Harvard University and a doctor of philosophy in
economics from the University of Oxford.
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Mr. Chan Pak Joe, aged 67, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since November
2001. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has been an executive director of The
Luk Hoi Tong Company, Limited since 1973. Mr. Chan is
the founder of the “Li Zhi Bursary” of Tsinghua University
in the PRC. He is also the Vice-Chairman of “Love Relay
Grant-in-Aid” of Fudan University in the PRC since
September 2005. His community services include having
served as a director of YMCA and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Hong Kong Housing Society.

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, aged 61, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September
2004. Dr. Lau also serves as the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Dr. Lau is an Associate Dean and BBA (Hons)
Program Director of the School of Business of the Hong
Kong Baptist University. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce from Saint Mary’s University in Canada,
a master degree in business administration from
Dalhousie University in Canada and a doctorate degree
of philosophy in accounting from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of The Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario (CPA, CA) in Canada,
a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia (CPA, CMA) in Canada, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (FCPA), and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong (ATIHK). He was also
a president (1992-1993) of the City Lions Club of Hong
Kong.
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Dr. Sun Tai Lun (Alias: Dennis), aged 69, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since November 2001. Dr. Sun also serves as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Dr. Sun is the chairman of China-Hongkong
Photo Products Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Sun has extensive experience
in the photographic products industry. He holds a
Doctor of Pharmacy of the University of Oklahoma
and a Doctorate degree in Philosophy in Business
Administration from Southern California University
for Professional Studies. He is the Vice Patron of the
Community Chest of Hong Kong since 1999, the Honorary
Fellow of City University of Hong Kong and Chapter
Honoree of City University of Hong Kong Chapter of
Beta Gamma Sigma. Dr. Sun had served as the chairman
(November 2009 - October 2015) of the Advisory
Committee on Travel Agents and the Court member
(2010 — December 2015) of City University of Hong Kong.
Dr. Sun was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 1999
and appointed as The Justice of the Peace in 2002.
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Senior Management

Mr. Au Yiu Man, aged 59, joined the Group in 1990. He
is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds a higher diploma in civil
engineering (municipal) and endorsement certificate in
design of reinforced concrete & steel structures from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chan Yiu Kei, Charles, aged 54, joined the Group
in 2010. He is a director of the Construction Division
of the Group. He has over 26 years of experience in
human resources management, employee training
and development, organisation development and
consultation in Hong Kong. He holds a Master of Social
Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a
Master of Science in Human Resource Management and
Training from University of Leicester in United Kingdom
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Management Consulting
and Change from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a graduate of Corporate Coaching Program (CCP) of
Corporate Coach U Canada, a Certified Administrator
of The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI), a Certified
Behavioral Consultant (DISC) of the Institute for
Motivational Living, a Certified Management Consultant
(CMCQ) of Institute of Management Consultants, and a
professional member (MIHRM) of Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resource Management.

Mr. Cheung Hok Chuen, aged 50, joined the Group in
1999. He was appointed as a director of the Building
Materials Division of the Group on 1 October 2010 and
is currently a director of the Construction Division of
the Group. Mr. Cheung has comprehensive experience
in the building industry in Hong Kong. He holds a BSc in
surveying from The University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Cheung Yiu Pan, aged 55, joined the Group in 2006.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in
the building industry in Hong Kong. He holds a bachelor
degree in quantity surveying from Edinburgh Napier
University and a master degree in construction and real
estate from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chow Ka Fung, aged 51, joined the Group in 1998.
He is a director of certain divisions of the Group and
oversees the Property Development Division, Property
Investment Division as well as Property Agency and
Management Division. Mr. Chow specialises in property
development, investment, marketing, management
and project management in Hong Kong and the PRC.
He holds a bachelor degree in land management from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow is
a Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice)
(Property and Facility Management) under the Surveyor
Registration Board (RPS). He is also a member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), a
member of China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and
Agents (MCIREA), a member of the Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators (MCIArb) and a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Chow Kit, aged 44, joined the Group in 1999. He
is a director of the Building Materials Division of the
Group. He has over 20 years of experience in the design,
supply and installation of building materials. He holds a
Bachelor of Art in Economics and Mathematics from York
University, Canada.
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Mr. Ho Chi Tong, aged 55, joined the Group in 1998.
He is a director of the Construction Division, Building
Materials Division and Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. He has extensive experience in quantity
surveying consultancy and construction contracting.
He holds a professional diploma in quantity surveying
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) under the Surveyor
Registration Board (RPS) and a member of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS) and Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Kong Wing Kin, aged 46, joined the Group in 1996.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds an associate degree in
facilities management from the City University of Hong
Kong, a professional diploma in occupational safety and
health from the Hong Kong Baptist University and a
bachelor degree in building surveying from the University
of Reading/The College of Estate Management in United
Kingdom.

Mr. Lin Tai Ling, Raymond, aged 55, joined the Group
in 2008. He is a director of the Property Agency and
Management Division of the Group. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in project management. He holds a bachelor
degree in arts (architectural studies) and a bachelor
degree in architecture from The University of Hong Kong.
He is a Registered Architect of The Hong Kong Institute
of Architects.
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Mr. Lun Tim Ho, aged 61, joined the Group in 1990 and
is a director of the Construction Division and Interior and
Renovation Division of the Group. Mr. Lun has extensive
experience in the construction field in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He holds an associateship and a higher diploma
in the building technology and management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building (MCIOB), Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM), Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS), and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers — Building (MHKIE).

Mr. Yuen Cheuk Kong, aged 60, joined the Group in
1989. He is a director of the Construction Division,
Building Materials Division and Interior and Renovation
Division of the Group. He has 38 years of experience in
the public and private sectors of the building and civil
engineering industries in Hong Kong. He holds a diploma
in management studies, a post-experience certificate
in building studies and a higher certificate in structural
engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and a bachelor degree in construction management
and economics. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests of the directors and
chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
were as follows:

(i) Long position in the shares of the Company

EEREG - HRKROHREHEEZ

HaRRE

R-EZEF=A=1+—H EERBESTH
AEREQB BB REBERG T BEETH
RARD BIRIEE 5 R B E R B EXVE 535215
BREEZERMA HRE £ TR AIKER1007
BETRITAZESETESR S ZZ%ESFE|
([ZESFAD BANSERRARBR Mg

W

() REQXARGZHER

Approximate
percentage of

Total issued share
Number of number of capital
ordinary ordinary (Note vi)
shares held shares held HEERT
Name Capacity FEEER FREER REABHEIL
% &) °E 4y (Witvi)
Cha Mou Sing, Payson Beneficial owner 26,537,925
EHE BERHEAA
Interest of controlled corporations 27,439,502
SELE R (Note i)
(Krati)
Beneficiary of discretionary trusts 531,981,820 585,959,247 53.71%
MEEEZZRA (Note ii)
(Btii)
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart Beneficial owner 37,795,157
Tits BERBAA
Interest of controlled corporation 4,270,975
TREECER (Note iif)
(Kritiii)
Interest of spouse 5,485,487 47,551,619 4.35%
BB R (Note iv)
(Kritiv)
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Approximate
percentage of

Total issued share
Number of number of capital
ordinary ordinary (Note vi)
shares held shares held HERT
Name Capacity g ER FEEER REAGOEIH
s EL) £ (| ag (Biztvi)
Tai Sai Ho Beneficial owner 17,385,721 17,385,721 1.59%
itz BEREEA
Lo Kai Cheong @Hep/eﬂcial owner 7,674,137
EHE BEREEA
Intergg; /of spouse 2,548,422 10,222,559 0.93%
B BEs (Note v)
(Britv)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson Beneficial owner 8,963,500
BiE EREBA
Beneflqary of dlscretlonary trusts 539,500,961 548,464,461 50.27%
BBERZERA (Note i)
(Betii)
Zhang Wei gep/eﬂcial owner 4,288,000 4,288,000 0.39%
RE BEREEA
Chan Pak Joe Beneficial owner 2,830,100 2,830,100 0.25%
BBk BEREEA
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter gep/eficial owner 4,205,950 4,205,950 0.38%
21 BEREEA
Sun Tai Lun gep/eficial owner 3,078,000 3,078,000 0.28%
YN BEREEA
Notes: MIEE
(i)  These shares are held by Accomplished Investments (i) =SB HEAccomplished Investments

(i)

(iii)

Limited and Kola Heights Limited, companies that
are wholly owned by Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson.

These shares are held under certain but not
identical discretionary trusts, of which Mr. Cha Mou
Sing, Payson and Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson are
among the members of the class of discretionary
beneficiaries.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart’s corporate interests in
the Company arise from the fact that he owns 50%
of the share capital of Executive Plaza Limited, which
holds 4,270,975 shares of the Company.
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(iv) These shares are held by Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai,
the wife of Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart.

(v) These shares are held by Ms. Lee Kwai Lin, the wife
of Mr. Lo Kai Cheong.

(vi) The percentage is calculated based on the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31
March 2020 (i.e. 1,090,924,676 shares).

(ii) Share options

Directors’ interests in share options are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of
the directors and chief executive of the Company or
their associates held any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits (including debentures) of the Company
or any other body corporate and none of the directors
or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 March
2020, in addition to those interests of the directors and
chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, the
interests of the shareholders in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

RiEEF R AR GHATFHESRK
RiER

BAQAGMA R F=A=+—8"
BREXFEEEERAATAESTHRAEZZ
LSRN BRERADTRD RAABERAD F -
BEAERERAQAREE S RBERAIEXV
IR BABREZE LM ERNT -

Long position in the shares of the Company REATRBZHFR
Approximate
percentage of
issued share capital
Number of (Note iv)
ordinary HE BT
Name Capacity shares held BABHE D
=L 3] mEERREA (Ktativ)
CCM Trust Trustee 487,702,041 44.70%
EHIN (Note i)
Interest of controlled corporations (Hreti)
ZEEEER
Mingly Beneficial owner 104,243,301 9.55%
=) BEREEA (Note ii)
Interest of controlled corporations (Htatii)
ZEEEER
CCM Capital Beneficial owner 78,866,272 7.22%
BEREEA (Note ii)
(Htatii)
LBJ Trustee 67,829,571 6.21%
(EHPN (Note iii)
Interest of controlled corporation (Wt &tiii)

XEEEzER
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Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

These share interests comprise 383,458,740 shares directly
held by CCM Trust and 104,243,301 shares held indirectly
through Mingly and its wholly owned subsidiaries. CCM
Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest in Mingly. CCM
Trust is holding the 383,458,740 shares as the trustee of
certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which
members of the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr.
Cha Mou Sing, Payson and Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson,
being the directors of the Company) are among the
discretionary objects.

These share interests comprise 3,732,928 shares directly
held by Mingly and 78,866,272 shares and 21,644,101
shares held indirectly through CCM Capital and Mingly
Asia Capital Limited, respectively. CCM Capital and Mingly
Asia Capital Limited are direct wholly owned subsidiaries
of Mingly.

These share interests comprise 61,022,931 shares directly
held by LBJ and 6,806,640 shares held indirectly through
Bie Ju Enterprises Limited, its wholly owned subsidiary. LBJ
is holding the 61,022,931 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members
of the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou
Sing, Payson and Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, being the
directors of the Company) are among the discretionary
objects.

The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2020 (i.e.
1,090,924,676 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the
Company has not been notified by any persons (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

By &E

() ZERMNEZBFEHCM TrustEEFE
2383,458, 740 R R EBBEIREEE
/B A B BB 2104,243,301 B8 Bk 17
CCM Trust#EB & 187.5% 2% ° CCM
TrustAEEA S AETFRENESTEEE
383,458,740 17 ZEEFEZWBEZ R A
HPhEERZEAE (EPBESHRELE
RERELE HHBERQATES) o

(il ZEROHEZEEBRBIEEEER
3,732,928 IR K FE B CCM Capital &
Mingly Asia Capital LimitedZ BIEEHE 2
78,866,272 IR 19 52 21,644,101 IR iZ {9 - CCM
Capital &z Mingly Asia Capital Limited& %
hzBEEZERBARAR-

(i) ZSERNVEZEFEALBIEEREEZ
61,022,931 B REBHE T EHE D FlBie
Ju Enterprises Limited®#21% 745 26,806,640
B LBIETEABHAE TTRBERE
F135561,022,931 10 ZEEEZ2BIBES
B AHTEERRGERE (ETEEERE
EEREREBELE HHBERQATESE) o

(iv) DHUDRBEAQATAIR B _EF=A=+—
E E?’éﬁﬁxﬁ“ 24 (801,090,924,676 & B2 1)
&

BREXFIREEN RZB-BF=A=1—
B ARABEAHNBEMAAL (FARAEER
RETHRABRIN RARBRODNBERD
RERA D BIREE S RS RGI 5336158
FEzETHM2ERILE -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the directors (not
being the independent non-executive directors) of the
Company in businesses which compete or were likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal
businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

EENREREGPCHER

REER  RAARAEE (BUFPTESHRM)
REASEEIZXBEEIEEERFMER
HREABREME MREBELTRAIATREZ(E
AEBHER 2 BRUNT

Name of
Name of director (Note i) company Nature of interest Competing business (Note /i)
EEHE (M) AR AR BEME BEMER (HiZi)
Cha Mou Sing, Payson HKRI Director of HKRI and a member of the class of (@) Property development and
EHE EBEE discretionary beneficiaries of certain but not investment
identical discretionary trusts of which the MEBRRRE
trustees are deemed substantial shareholders
of HKRI under Part XV of the SFO (b) Property management, leasing
BREXESRETTRINBEACHEZEAL and marketing services
BlZm 8 MREESRAEHRAEXVE 2% WEER HERTGERRYE
ERAZEIARBATEREEIERR
NWDCL Independent non-executive director of NWDCL  (a) Property development and
R FHRCBUFHNTES investment
WEERKRE
(b) Property management, leasing
and marketing services
MEER HERTHERRY
CREIT Independent non-executive director of Eagle (a) Property investment
BEELET Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager MERE
of CREIT
EEZEEERE (BE)ERAR (BEEXERFTZE (b) Property management, leasing
BA)ZBUKHITES and marketing services
MEXER HERTHERERY
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson HKRI Director of HKRI and a member of the class of (@) Property development and
ERE ERE%E discretionary beneficiaries of certain but not investment
identical discretionary trusts of which the MEBRRRE
trustees are deemed substantial shareholders
of HKRI under Part XV of the SFO (b) Property management, leasing

BRRXESRETTRINBEACHEZEAL and marketing services
BIZHE  MBEESRBEGRAEXVE 2% NEEE HERTSHEERYE
ERZEIABBRATBREIERE

] ] 4. HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS % = €y ik { &

Notes:

0]

(i)

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson and Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
are non-executive directors of the Company, who are
not involved in the daily management of the Group.
Accordingly, the Company is capable of carrying its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from the
abovementioned competing businesses.

In addition, Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson held share interests,
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart held share interests and
directorships and Mr. Lo Kai Cheong held directorships
in certain private companies (the “Private Companies”)
which engage in property investment and serviced
apartment or hotel operation. As the Board of the
Company is independent of the boards of the Private
Companies and has a different board composition to the
respective boards of the Private Companies (the Board
of the Company comprises of three executive directors,
three non-executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors), the Company operates its businesses
independently of, and at arm’s length from the businesses
of the Private Companies.

Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries,
affiliated companies or by way of other forms of
investments.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its parent
company or any subsidiary of its parent company was
a party and in which a director of the Company or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

By &E

0]

(i)

ERBEEREBREEI RN AAFRANT
B REAUBESESEEATEEIF-
b RNORREAEEEHEBRB LN LA
BEMEBARNFEELE -

s BB EE - FHBLAEREME KL
RETLEQT (ZEREQTF ] HBWE
RERBRBAABHEELE) D BFAR
B-HERERETESHERETESH
BoHRARRAESTERLNZSLEQTN
ESSHEFECAREZSENELTNS
BESER (A RAESEH=-BITE
B ZEFYTESR=EBNFAITESH
B ARRREBINZELENRNERL
BRATEELEHER-

ZEXBUEBWBELARANBMBEAREE
FEBEMIREFAFL -

EERXS REXSHZHE

ARBREEAMBELE - EFQXAREF L
BRI E A RBET L EAREERE
B AARRESRHBAEEENETEER
BEEEEABESMNAFETEZBRA
FERAEARBBDRAERZEMNEARS L
BREN-
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND
INSURANCE

The Company’s articles of association provides that
every director, auditor or other officer of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a director, auditor or other officer
of the Company in defending any proceedings, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is
acquitted. Such permitted indemnity provision is in force
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and at the date of
this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for directors and
officers of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme described above, the
Group has not entered into any equity-linked agreements
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for undertaking the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

116

BHFFREMAGXR R

ARBRZABERMAARE RARAFATES
REMIHMSRMEREE AR LRNEET
HEAARRES RBMIHMSRBEE
EHBHRIEHER 2 EMFRDETRE
MEEARRZ 2 —IRAREEESHE- R
HE_Z-ZHE=-A=1T-HLEFEARR
RERAH FRBEFRERI-—EBEN-

AABEBALAREERSABREBERE
NEERSHBESTREIEARE-

B 5K 1 89 15 i

Br D BB RRAE ST &SN REBRERL ER] L
RIS EHP 1R o

EBeN

RER RARWETIREFEEETAEEARD
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 70% of the revenue of the Group
and the largest customer is an independent third party,
accounted for about 29% of the revenue of the Group.
Aggregate purchases for the year ended 31 March 2020
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less
than 30%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their
respective close associates, or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in the
five largest customers and suppliers of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making
mandatory contributions for its staff. Details of charges
relating to the retirement benefits schemes are set out in
note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

FERERRMER

REXN AEEZEARFEFLHAKERAY
0% MERAFEFRBIYFE=7 HAKERT
AR29% BE-ZE-FTF=-A=+—-HL
FE AEETAHEHRLGAKRBEIRN
30% °

REXFEEEN BE-ZZ-_FF=A
=ST—HLEFE BEEE HEXEZER
BEAREARR (RESHAEELAQFTC
BIIRASNUL)RAEBEAEF RAHE
BmHER AR

iR ¢ ina # 51 &

AEEBBETEHEABE RN 2R
B mEESFHEHMEMR - BREERKER
SRR RN G MR R EE47

BB AR B AT 201972020488 117



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS # 55 1 #z 5 &

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.22 OF
LISTING RULES

The financial assistance to affiliated companies of the
Company, and guarantees given for banking facilities
granted to affiliated companies of the Company named
in the first column in the table below, in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$1,511,146,000 which
represented approximately 23.2% of the total assets of
the Company at 31 March 2020. Details of which are as

REEHRAE13.22F M H 2 #&

R-B-EF=ZF=+—H [AEAQAFAZHE
AERMCHMBEYRMIEFRITERER
ZZM}Ezm%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁfmmﬁfﬁtﬂziﬁﬁ
%Eﬁ’J;’%;‘%M1,511,146,00075 HEERAEQ
EEEN23.2% BEFEBOT

follows:
Total amount of financial
assistance given to,
committed capital injection
Company's to and guarantees given
equity interest for facilities granted to,
in affiliated affiliated company
company [BEARRAMZHBEER -
PN AEOBEARMELZ
REBELRZ TERBBRTHREARZ
Name of affiliated company BEARER i 7 MEFEHZERER
HK$'000
BEFT
Haining Jiafeng Real Estate BEZERHERRLA 49% 115,000
Development Limited (E=]) (Note 1)
(“Haining") (M)
Gallant Elite Enterprises Limited ~B&GCEERAR ([EE] K 50% 146,146
(“Gallant Elite”) and HKftE AR (Note 2)
its subsidiaries (Ktat2)
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Great Splendor Enterprises 50% 250,000
(“Great Splendor”) and Limited ([ Great Splendor ]) & (Note 3)
its subsidiaries HKE AR (HrE£3)
Flourishing Stable Limited BEARAR (B2 50% 1,000,000
(“Flourishing Stable”) and HKt BN 7 (Note 4)
its subsidiaries (Htit4)
1,511,146
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Notes:

The Group has guaranteed to a bank in Hong Kong for
securing the standby letter of credit of HK$115,000,000 for
the period from 12 December 2019 to 11 December 2020
issued by a bank in Hong Kong to a bank in PRC which
granted a bank loan to Haining.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Gallant Elite concerned.

The Group shall provide shareholder’s loan for a sum
up to HK$185,000,000 which shall be unsecured, non-
interest bearing and have no fixed term of repayment.
In addition, an indemnity (subject to a maximum liability
of HK$65,000,000) was provided by the Group to five
limited partnerships which are affiliates of the majority
shareholder of Great Splendor, who had provided a
corporate guarantee as required under the term loan
facilities granted to the wholly owned subsidiary of Great
Splendor for (i) securing the interest payment obligations;
(ii)) completion and cost overrun undertaking of the
property development; and (iii) the full and punctual
payment of the secured liabilities as referred to in the
term loan as and when the same shall be due and payable.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Flourishing Stable concerned.

AEECREBERFRITERZ—EHE
RITBEEAEAED —BAEBRTIRM
IR #4978 %115,000,0007C AR =Z— N
F+ZA+ZHEZZE-_ZEF+-HA+—H-

BEBGSEANREEEEZENES
FRECEFNRERESRARGEREZR
AR AREEE-

TEEHRERRER SEEABYE
185,000,000 ( A EIE T - R EREEE
BREH) B AEECOEEMERER
% (¥9 B Great Splendor (HEHREBERF
Great Splendorz 2 EMB AR ZEHER
FEETZHAEREATER) 2EERRZ
BEBAL)ROFEARER: (VIERR2
ERRANEZAERUABERE (ZHES
B fE8%65,000,0007TFTRR) ; R(i)EBE
MPANEEREEN B RERTR
I FETE BB A o

FRBRBRMSEANREEELEZENES
FRECERRBEAEREARGEREZR
AR AREEE-
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The proforma combined statement of financial position LB ARR_-ZT_ZEF=A=+—-HZ
of the above affiliated companies at 31 March 2020 is as  BZS P BMRARNOT :

follows:

HK$°000

BETFoT
Current assets RBEE 1,467,837
Current liabilities REEE (3,220,622)
Non-current assets FREBEE 2,367,905
Net assets EEFHE 615,120
DONATIONS EE

During the year, the Group made charitable and other RER > KREBEEHEEREMIBIIEBYE
donations amounting to HK$376,790 (2019: HK$310,749). 376,7907T (=& — L5 : B1310,7497T) °

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT ERARIGEKRE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the  REBAXAQATFEZAMERRRAQAES
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, as il RABEEZHH XA ERE LT
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained (RARELEZTTOREAQTACHTRHOEE
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the number ~ 25% 2 2R RIFKRE -

of the Company’s issued shares as required under the

Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS B {7 @SR R 1

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under ZAATZABERMAINBESHEEZHLE
the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of ERBRMHELRBEZG RERQTAEIR
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company EbBImIRERRBEEFHRD

to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.

AUDITOR s o

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual  AAFHREERRBFAR LHREERER
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. EIEEZ e BERHLTMITAARQALE

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company. Bl o

On behalf of the Board REREEE

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart T ittE

Managing Director EHRLHE

23 June 2020 —EZEFXAZ+=H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Hh S A% Bl i

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 131 to 318, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

122

=2

FHHANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS
LIMITED (B RIZZERER Q) ZERE
(REEBHEZME L ZHIRL )

BER

e (UTEBIERM ESEFFIEH
M 51312 5%318E Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited (E S AIZZERBR AR
(UTHEBIEARREMB AR (LT4
BAIEEE]) NEREMERT LB BEHRE
BER-ZE-_ZEF=A=+-— EIH’J%AWJ?T%
MRREBEZALFENFREBRR KRS
Sk HMEZEKER SReEEE BRI
ERERERURSEMBHRRM T BFE
ZEHBEME-

BMRE e BRRCRETBEE
MASEMEN (BEMBREEA) EEmMH
BT BEEER-ZE-EF=A=+-
BNARENBRARBEZBLFENGS
RERGERENE WEBRBEEB (A
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

BERER

EMHEREFTBESHMASEMEY (FBET
Q) ETEN -BRMEZSEYTAENS
FEEAHE [ZBEREFTFEPHRERA
ENEFEI Mo EE-—SHEM - REEES
BRI AR (BESEEERTAD (B
TEBIFAD EMBLR BEEE FCE
BT RPN EMBERBEEEE  RMEE
BMAESHETBERZERBEELSRK
MNESEREHER-

FAEEZER

HREZFEERERMNEXIE A 5Y
TG BERRNETTRBEENSE-
ELERRERMBFFEESZSUBHERREK
HERRRBETREN KM FISHELEE
REEBHER-
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

HRERER (&)

Key audit matter

HRELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNENAEERREREE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEZIGE

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter due to the
significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements associated with determining the fair
value.

ENBEAFESRERATTEEHABBRERH
- ZASRENE 2 HERB SEREXRSE

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s investment
property portfolio comprised agricultural,
commercial, industrial and residential properties
and was stated at fair value of HK$2,858,773,000,
accounting for approximately 44% of the Group’s
total assets as at 31 March 2020 with a gain on
change in fair value of HK$183,266,000 recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year then ended.

AR E M EHRRMET 18R BEREREWHE
HEBEEEX B IXEREENEBEATES
75#52,858,773,000t 1 EXEER-ZE-_ZTF=A
=+—HBREENMY RNEBEZALFEZEEE
mRAER AT EEE 2 5E%183,266,0007T

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

B REVEZGHERITHEFEE:

e  Obtaining an understanding from the
Valuers and management of the Group
about the valuation techniques, the
performance of the property markets,
significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas, key inputs and data used
in the valuations;

THREEMKR BREEEEMELAERT
RzEERM - METESRR - KAZETER
ROBRAEEE  TERASEREE

e Assessing the integrity of information
provided by the management to the Valuers
by comparing details of rentals on a sample
basis to the respective underlying existing
lease agreements;

ARmMEEHSHEEAEEAHEREET
b LR EEERGEMATRECERN
STEM,
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

HEBEXER 2

Key audit matter

ARELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESNAEERREXEE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REYXEZI1GE (B

All of the Group’s investment properties are
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers (the “Valuers”). As disclosed
in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements,
in determining the fair values of the Group's
investment properties, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia,
significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market
rent, capitalisation rate and adjusted market price
that has taken into account of property-specific
adjustments including location, land quality and
timing of referenced transactions.

BEREEHRENELDBRBEBLERMEELQT ([f4
BT ) FH 2 hER A FEEXE -BUGES U’
WMRMEASIKE RNEE BEEEREVEZQF
B HEMEATERE EFPR (AFEEB)E
ATUBRGABBENEARAE DEEHSHEE
BERERRERABTSER (CEREBREWELE-
THERRASERZCHEZEE)

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers; and

AHEEER 2D TRERFBME R

o Evaluating the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs by comparing the
market rent estimated by the Valuers against
market data or rental of existing lease,
benchmarking capitalisation rate against
market data and comparing adjusted market
price with comparable market transactions
for comparable property in similar location
and condition on a sample basis.

BB LB ERM A 2 SHEE R AT
SBEIRBFEEZHE BEXCRETHT
SHIE  SRBTHSEREELUBIRMRR 2
AEBMENTLRTERS  UFEEXRT
AEERABENEE M-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Rt 2

BELARESEHHMESEE -HtEE 88
HERFRANEES  ETEEFSHBRE
R T APTph Ut B HH O R B AT SR 5 o

EMEGESUBHRERNBRE NREHME
B BT THZEEMERBERETMALAN
EE W o

HERMYRSHBRRNET RMANEE
EHEHMER EhBRET ZEHMER
REREGESYBRRIRMNEEFBREDF
THENBAFEEAEBRELTFEFEEX
R ER - EREMEBITH I a0
REMRAHMESFEERERRL - H
FEREZEE-EENTH ZMIREEMAH

=l

EERAHEHEBMGEMBERRAR
EORE

BENRESASERBET BSOS RM
B (BB BIREER) REEB (QEMRHD
MREERBEEEM P ENFESMHREK
THERBRBEFSUBRRNEBTFE
HRERFFE R M B RN E X ERR A
HREIEFI RS-
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

EERAEBEBMGESMBERRAR
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EREFEMBBRERE ERXEETE 88
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BB EN R F iR S M B RRIED
R
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BERAE WERREMEENEBOERRE
BERERRHABFERMAZRNZBEIRE -
BRULBASN RIS N A RIEE AR AR - &<
TERRARE 2 AR EME AN L&
FMEEREZEMEL SERBESNKF
HRE  ENEERBIRIR (BBEFERD &
ITHES  EX - ERERRAFERFRLE

B o SEERBRAL T DA ERFF R IR R 512 - MRS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT %8 7. 2% % il i 4

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As p

art of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

128

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

BB EFr RS MEGERAIED
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o TRREBTEBAIAES  LRITEE
METREF  EENLFYE BSEERM
BEHNERMBERER -

e FMEESARASHBENREMRE
HEET AT AR EN S EME-

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT %8 7. 2% % Fifi # 4

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR BB SGSMERRRIED
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED B &)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

HESRAKAECESTHERNREMR
e & o RIS PTE UM ERTHRRE  HE
EEFHEESEIBERBEENERTE
BN EmAEEHRY BRENEES
ERNELEEARRE NREMB/EHE
EXRTHEN  IELEEZBAHRER
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B BEEENERIAXBEDNMBERE
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We communicate with those charged with governance  BREMEEIN  RMEDRERBERE T ENE
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 8B BEZHEREAZITRRE B8R
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,  {M7EE& 5T Bl A P42 &l 49 (E A 2 K ER PG ©
including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT %8 7. 2% % il i 4

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Wong Lam Ching.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
fr T AR AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZE=-FA=+—HALEE

2020 2019
—BEHF —Z2-hEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt et BT T BT T
Continuing operations BEKSEEK
Revenue ON 6 958,245 1,948,123
Cost of sales SHE A (796,200) (1,727,267)
Gross profit EF 162,045 220,856
Other income Hl A 8 20,616 7,720
Other gains and losses Hittm R EE 9 31,509 (430)
(Loss) gain on disposal of HEWE BERSZHEZ
property, plant and equipment  (E518) Iz (308) 166,054
(Loss) gain on disposal of HEMBARZ (EE)
subsidiaries Uk &= 40 (1,235) 318,106
(Impairment losses) reversal FEHEEFBEERATZ
of impairment losses under CREE18) B ERE
expected credit loss model, net  EiEFEE 10 (3,992) 113
Marketing and distribution costs TMiSEER D HE R (43,435) (12,174)
Administrative expenses THRX (212,478) (248,897)
Change in fair value of REMEZ AT EEE
investment properties
- Realised gains on disposals —HERZE BN 68,786 44,325
- Unrealised gains —REBRUW 114,480 73,614
Share of profit of an associate pal (g N Dbl 404 89
Share of profit of joint ventures S {8 & & %% R 130,042 74,423
Finance costs M E M 11 (34,682) (15,151)
Profit before taxation BR A0 % Al 12 231,752 628,648
Taxation IR 15 (10,376) (62,425)
Profit for the year from BEREEK
continuing operations RERERF 221,376 566,223
Discontinued operations BRI REER
Profit for the year from BARIEREEK
discontinued operations RERERF 13 - 11,799
Profit for the year AEERA 221,376 578,022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS #Ef#H #5#%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZE=-FA=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
M=t BET T BT T
Profit for the year REERF
For continuing operations REFELEEK 221,376 566,223
For discontinued operations FEHORIEEEER - 11,799
221,376 578,022
Earnings per share BREF
For continuing and RFELERERILELE
discontinued operations XBms
Basic (HK cents) B (GBAL) 17 20.3 55.7
Diluted (HK cents) s (Bl) 17 20.3 54.9
For continuing operations RIFELEEBMS
Basic (HK cents) B (BAL) 17 20.3 54.5
Diluted (HK cents) 8 (B4L) 17 20.3 53.8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
i 1 45 2 % L fth 2 T Wi 2 4%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZE=-FA=+—HALEE

2020 2019
—EBEHF —E-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit for the year AEERER 221,376 578,022
Other comprehensive Hih2mE (X H) e
(expense) income:
Items that may be subsequently T REZEH 7 BEZEmZHE -
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising BREBNEBELECERER
on translation of foreign
operations (32) (4,266)
Release of exchange reserve R & S S 75 B R BR BB 50 1A
upon disposal of a foreign
operation - 1,285
Share of exchange differences PEEELECERERE
of a joint venture (6,520) (7,533)
(6,552) (10,514)
Total comprehensive income rEEL2EHRELE
for the year 214,824 567,508
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B B 5 AR L 2R

AT 31 MARCH 2020
W-B=—FF=H=+-A

31.3.2020 31.3.2019
—ECEF —E-NEF
=ZA=+—-H | ZA=+—H
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
B & BET T BT T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment properties BREYE 18 2,858,773 2,225,570
Property, plant and equipment  #1¥ - B E R & 19 1,114,411 393,119
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 5,957 -
Interest in an associate BeE N A 2w 21 7,514 7,110
Interests in joint ventures EELEIER 22 373,458 396,984
Loans to joint ventures EELEER 23 701,959 498,289
Deposit paid and prepayment ENRBREVEZRER
for acquisition of investment T FRIE
properties - 90,465
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE 37 2,508 2,538
5,064,580 3,614,075
Current assets MEEE
Properties under BREPZGEME
development for sale 24 329,689 322,596
Properties held for sale BIEEEME - 7,441
Inventories 7E 25 16,695 15,357
Contract assets BREE 26 270,177 267,080
Debtors, deposits and FEWRIE -RER
prepayments AT RIR 27 100,739 114,148
Amounts due from joint ventures B E & dEFIE 28 17 17
Amount due from a related FEUR BEEE A T FRIE
party 29 - 24,364
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN 23 - 24,209
Financial assets at fair value ERBEEEAFEFEZ
through profit or loss MBEE 30 319 519
Taxation recoverable A 3R [B] 18 7,501 10,394
Bank balances and cash RITEBREES 31 246,140 869,514
971,277 1,655,639
Assets classified as held for sale D EAIFIEHEEE 32 483,587 —
1,454,864 1,655,639
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION £x £ B # iR Yt 5

AT 31 MARCH 2020

R-_ZE-_FEF=A=+—H

31.3.2020 31.3.2019
—E-EF —E-NE
=Z=A=+—-H | ZA=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Ff =t BT T BT T
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FE A< SR I8 I H At BB S FRIE 33 646,038 772,165
Provisions B1% 34 70,727 87,637
Lease liabilities HEERE 35 6,270 =
Taxation payable EABiE 65,346 66,813
Bank loans — amounts due RITER-R—FR
within one year P 2018 36 1,666,350 351,000
2,454,731 1,277,615
Net current (liabilities) assets RE (BB EEFE (999,867) 378,024
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERGTHERS 4,064,713 3,992,099
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Provisions BiE 34 119,442 200,299
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHEEE 37 16,758 12,356
Lease liabilities HEERE 35 4,867 =
141,067 212,655
3,923,646 3,779,444
Capital and reserves BEARR#E
Share capital [N 38 109,092 109,083
Reserves & 3,814,554 3,670,361
3,923,646 3,779,444

The consolidated financial statements on pages 131 to
318 were approved and authorised for issue by the board
of directors on 23 June 2020 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

IR
DIRECTOR
EF

BINEEEBEMIN 2 FEMHRE  KE

EER-E

Tai Sai Ho
Bttt
DIRECTOR
EFE

—EERNAZtT=ZBERERERRE
B WA TIEBSARESR:
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
5 oM T

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZTE=-A=+—HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FNRERAER
Shares
Share- held for
based share Property
Share  Contributed Special compensation award  revaluation  Translation Goodwill ~ Accumulated
capital surplus reserve reserve scheme reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RRH
NROZAH  RBH ES
B& BARS  KEIRE  MEBR ThEZRL  ERBR  RERE  BERE  ZHEd &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Etn  E8Tn  E8Tn  EBTn B%Tn #%Tn #%Tn B%Tn BETn BETn
(Note 39) (Note 39)
(Wa39)  (W&39)
At 1 April 2018 R=E-\EMA-A 104,618 332,869 21,94 67,752 (71,995) 26,554 8,062 (78 32221%2 3,711,875
Profit for the year REERR - - - - - - = = 578,022 578,022
Exchange differences arising on BEEARBELCENER
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - (4,266) - - (4,266)
Release of exchange reserve upon REEENEHRERERGE
disposal of a foreign operation - - - - - - 1,285 - - 1,285
Share of exchange differences of MregbEvERES
ajoint venture - - - - - - (7,533) - - (7,533)
Total comprehensive (expense) income REERE (%) hELE
for the year - - - - - - (10,514) - 578,022 567,508
Dividends paid (Note 16) B ZRE (Hitte) - - - - - - - - (78463) (78463)
Dividend by way of distribution in NENA KB AR ZFADRRE
specie of subsidiaries (Note 16) (H3T16) - - - - - - - - (500,048)  (500,048)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEEREMRT2RHA
share options 4,465 79719 - (11,033) - - - - - 65,411
Share options lapsed BRELY - - - @) - = = = 27 =
Recognition of equity-settled BINEREERURGRAZIE
share-based payments - - - 12,760 - - - - - 12,760
Award shares vested BEZBRH - - - (67,024) 71599 - - - (4575) -
Sale of shares under share award scheme ~ HERREEHETHRA - - - - 3% - - - 3 40
At 31 March 2019 RZE-AE=B=1-R 109,083 404,848 21,94 2,428 - 26,554 (2,452) (78) 3217120 3,779,444
Profit for the year REEET - - - - - - - - 21,376 21376
Exchange differences arising on REBNSHELCELER
translation of foreign operations - - - - - - (32) - - (32)
Share of exchange differences of MAELEVERZE
a joint venture - - - - - - (6520) - - (6520)
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AEE2E (X)) HEEE
for the year - - - - - - (6,552) - 21376 214,824
Dividends paid (Note 16) BfizkE (Hite) - - - - - - - - (81,819) (81,819)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TREREMETZRHG
share options 9 923 - (13) - - - - - 89
Share options lapsed BRELY - - - (220) - - - - 24 -
Recognition of equity-settled BANERGERARG R 25E
share-hased payments - - - 11,108 - - - - - 11,108
At 31 March 2020 RZBZEE=F=1-H 109,092 404,941 21,941 13,299 - 26,554 (9,004) (78) 335,901 3,923,646
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
I AT A o B o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZE=-FA=+—HALEE

2020 2019
Sl 33 —E-hEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Operating activities EEXK
Profit for the year REERA 221,376 578,022
Adjustments for: Bk
Taxation IR 10,376 67,712
Share of profit of an associate DI E D BR R (404) (89)
Share of profit of joint ventures DTMEEE L EER (130,042) (74,423)
Dividend income % B A 9 (10)
Interest income A E U A (5.679) (2,969)
Interest expense FMEZH 34,682 17,198
Depreciation of property, ME-BERZEZ
plant and equipment e 29,195 29,506
Reversal of provision for BEREERBRE
indemnity (8,400) -
Depreciation of CREEEZNE
right-of-use assets 5,866 -
Impairment of EREEEZRE
right-of-use assets 2,151 -
Net provisions made SHRRERE 965 125,542
Equity-settled share-based URREER ARG XM
payments ZFRIE 11,108 12,760
Revaluation gain on properties RERZREYERISE
held for sale upon transfer to FEMEZEMRE
investment properties (31,859) -
Loss (gain) on disposal HENE BER
of property, plant and RGBS (L&)
equipment 308 (166,039)
Gain on change in fair value of RENEZ AT EESZ
investment properties & (183,266) (117,939)
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEWE QT ZEE
subsidiaries (hz) 1,235 (318,106)
Loss on change in fair value of EBRBEREATETEZ
financial assets at fair value HBEELNFEEEZ
through profit or loss 53] 200 61
Write-down for inventories WoRFE 1,242 -
Impairment losses BHEEBEERTZ
(reversal of impairment losses) BEERE (BERE
under expected credit B18)F8
loss model, net 3,992 (3,257)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z_ZFE=-FA=1+—HLEE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %% B 4 jfii & 3%

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEF T
Operating cash flows before HEECRH I EEREN
movements in working capital (36,963) 147,969
Increase in inventories FEEM (2,580) (440)
Increase in properties under BREPZEFEWEEM
development for sale (7,093) (934,987)
Decrease in debtors, EWFIE e RFBATERD
deposits and prepayments 18,940 75,500
(Increase) decrease in contract BHEE/BRERE
assets/liabilities, net (#hn) iF D (2,823) 88,694
Utilisation of provisions B RERE (98,732) (104,640)
Decrease in trade and FEAS FRIE 2 ELA FE (S TR IE R A
other payables (140,734) (117,813)
Increase in amounts due from FEU & & 2 R IE 1 hn
joint ventures - (847)
Cash used in operating activities AREEER 2BHE (269,985) (846,564)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREBFEBH (8,673) (30,734)
Interest paid EFE (34,682) (15,151)
Net cash used in operating activities FAREE£H 2 HEFE (313,340) (892,449)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS % & B & EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZFE=-F=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
g 33 —E-hE
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B BETT BEF T
Investing activities REXK
Interest received 2 WFE 3,356 2,969
Dividend received from financial ERBEBBERATENE
assets at fair value through ZEBEEZRE
profit or loss 9 10
Purchase of investment properties  FEREWE (556,291) (86,384)
Purchase of property, NENE BRERZE
plant and equipment (15,438) (8,507)
Proceeds from disposal of HEREMEMERE
investment properties 61,800 197,136
Proceeds from disposal of HENE BER
property, plant and equipment RGPS RIA 318 172,290
Proceeds from disposal of assets HEPEARELESE
classified as held for sale FrBRIE - 278,712
Deposits received from disposal of ~ BUWHES BHEBEH
assets classified as held for sale EEEZRSE 23,243 -
Net cash outflows on acquisitions WEHBARZ
of subsidiaries ReERLFE 40 (1,466,085) (454,506)
Net cash inflows on disposal of AHENRB LR Z
subsidiaries BERAFHE 40 426,374 1,252,682
Direct attributable costs paid for REBHERB AR
disposal of subsidiaries [SENPPA=E: 3 3P - (2,896)
Deposit paid and prepayment ENRERENELZER
for acquisition of investment HEARIB
properties - (90,465)
Loans to joint ventures BELEER (529,217) (431,462)
Repayments of loans from BELEEEER
joint ventures 342,911 113,273
Dividend received from BEREELEZRE
a joint venture 148,250 134,952
Capital injection to a joint venture neEtEITE (1,202) (547)
Repayment from a related party BHALTER 24,364 -
Net cash (used in) from investing (AR)RBEREXKZ
activities b (1,537,608) 1,077,257
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NSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ZE £ R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z_ZFE=-FA=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hE
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B BETT BEF T
Financing activities MEXK
Dividends paid BZRE (81,819) (78,463)
Dividend by way of distribution in ~ UE¥2RMEAE 2
specie of subsidiaries F 2k E 13 - (327,167)
New bank loans raised HERITER 2,174,400 1,271,000
Repayment of bank loans EERTENR (859,050) (1,315,507)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEE (6,042) -
Proceeds from issue of shares upon  {TEEREMEITRE <
exercise of share options i858 89 65,411
Sale of shares under HERMRBEETWRE
share award scheme - 401
Net cash from (used in) ®E(AR)MEEK2
financing activities ReFE 1,227,578 (384,325)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBELEBERDFE
cash equivalents (623,370) (199,517)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYNEERBESEE
the beginning of the year 869,514 1,070,124
Effect of foreign exchange EXgB T8
rate changes (4) (1,093)
Cash and cash equivalents FRASRREEE
at the end of the year, REBITEHBERS
representing bank balances
and cash 246,140 869,514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao Bk 25 e A B

GENERAL

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under
the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision), Chapter
22 of the Laws of Cayman Islands. Its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the
functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are
construction, interior and renovation works, supply
and installation of building materials, property
investment, property development, provision of
property agency and management services and sale
of health products.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZE=-FA=+—HALEE

—KER

Hanison Construction Holdings
Limited (REAIZZRERAF) ([X
RADNBREHREREEFE-T=FERQ
AE(ZZT-FE BN - ERE
HEEMEYA—RHERRERAF
HBRONEBHERXZMERAT ([H
R Eme-ARAR2EMPEERE
BEFRBE AR FRODFTER
—EI R E -

REUBBRRVBEZS BETIARQF
ZHEEEE-

ARA—RREZERAB -HWEQ
AZEBXBRER KORESTIRE -
HEEZRBEME  WERE MR
B UEAEREERB 2 RZHREEE
2 SHE e
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

BEZ

142

BoRE-A=t—HILEFE

As disclosed in notes 13 and 16, pursuant to a
resolution of the board of directors of the Company
on 22 February 2019, the Company declared a
special interim dividend, satisfied by distribution in
specie of the issued capital of its subsidiary, Million
Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope")
to the Company’s shareholders. The distribution was
made by way of allocating 2 Million Hope shares
for every 5 shares of the Company held by the
Company'’s shareholders. The distribution in specie
by the Company was recognised at the carrying
amount of the net assets of Million Hope and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Million Hope
Group”) attributable to the owners of the Company
as the directors of the Company considered that
Million Hope was ultimately under the control of
the same parties before and after the distribution.
Upon the distribution, the Group held no interest in
Million Hope Group and Million Hope Group ceased
to be subsidiaries of the Company. Million Hope
Group is engaged in design, supply and installation
of aluminium windows and curtain walls included
in the ‘building materials’ segment. Million Hope
Group's profit for the period from 1 April 2018 to 18
March 2019 (immediately before completion of the
distribution in specie) was presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the discontinued operations are set out in
note 13.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in
light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$999,867,000 as at
31 March 2020 and the Group also has bank loans
totaling HK$1,666,350,000, which were classified as
current liabilities on the same date. Based on past
experience that the Group has successfully renewed
its borrowing facilities, the directors of the Company
are confident that the Group will be able to renew
the borrowing facilities upon expiry.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that, taking into account of the unutilised
banking facilities, the internally generated funds
of the Group and the Group’s ability to renew
borrowing facilities as described above, the Group
has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements for the next twelve months from 31
March 2020. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with

HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation
Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment
HKAS 19 or Settlement

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and financial performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS £z £ B ¢ i 3% Bff 5%

3.1 HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the
first time in the current year. HKFRS 16
superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”, and the related
interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 “Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease” and not
apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the
date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on
or after 1 April 2019, the Group applies the
definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing
whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16
retrospectively with the cumulative effect
recognised at the date of initial application, 1
April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised
additional lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets at amounts equal to the related
lease liabilities adjusted by any prepaid
lease payments by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)
(ii) transition. Any difference at the date
of initial application is recognised in the
opening accumulated profits and comparative
information has not been restated.

3.1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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When applying the modified retrospective
approach under HKFRS 16 at transition,
the Group applied the following practical
expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-
by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

i relied on the assessment of whether
leases are onerous by applying HKAS 37
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” as an alternative of
impairment review;

ii. elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for leases with
lease term ends within 12 months of the
date of initial application; and

iii. used hindsight based on facts and
circumstances as at date of initial
application in determining the lease term
for the Group’s leases with extension and
termination options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %% 15 & i

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the
Group has applied incremental borrowing
rates of the relevant group entities at the date
of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 5.17%.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
BE-Z-_ZFE=-F=1+—HLEE

MEAMDEALEHENHERR
HEEER FAEEEERARER
ERBHEEREERMNIEEEMN
FIZ o FrfE AR INRE 19 IB EfE
FZEE5.17% °

At

1 April 2019
R-ZE-h&
mA—H
HK$'000
BETT

Operating lease commitments disclosed as RZ=ZZE—AF=B=+—HHEEN
at 31 March 2019 RedaRiE 13,135
Add: Extension options reasonably certain il : B E/TFERREE

to be exercised 2,700
Less: Practical expedient - leases with lease & : AI{TREE 5% — HEI RN B X E A B st
term ending within 12 months TZEARERZEE
from date of initial application (617)
15,218
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant R-ZE-NENA-RERBEVERE
incremental borrowing rates relating EHETARREIESEHERREZ
to operating leases recognised upon EHESEERANZRR 2 HESE
application of HKFRS 16 as at
1 April 2019 9,928
Analysed as DMB
Current B 4,191
Non-current FERE 5,737
9,928
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The carrying amount of right-of-use assets
for its own use and those under subleases
(classified as investment properties) as at 1
April 2019 comprises the following:

R-ZZE-NFHA-RZBEREA
BREER2HEBETHNEMAEEE
(PRERRENF) REESEUT
IHH :

Right-of-use
assets
ERAEEE
HK$'000
BT T
Right-of-use assets relating to operating F& & & B % 3R & 2 A 55 + /< 5% B
leases recognised upon application of MWRELLHEEENFERREE
HKFRS 16 (Note) (=) 9,928
By class: mER
Land and buildings T REF 6,723
Investment properties REW*
- Land and buildings — T REF 3,205
9,928

Note: At the date of initial application, leased
properties under subleases were assessed and
classified as an operating lease individually
based on the remaining contractual terms
and conditions of the head lease and the
sublease at that date. All lease properties
under subleases of HK$3,205,000 as at the
date of initial application were classified
as operating leases and remeasured to fair
value at the date of initial application in
accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies for investment properties.

Before the application of HKFRS 16, the
Group considered refundable rental deposits
paid as rights and obligations under leases
to which HKAS 17 applied under other
receivables. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are
not payments relating to the right to use
the underlying assets and were adjusted to
reflect the discounting effect at transition.
However, the adjustment on discounting effect
is insignificant to be recognised at the date of
initial recognition, 1 April 2019.
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Effective from 1 April 2019, leasehold lands
which were classified as properties under
development for sale/properties held for sale
are measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

The following adjustments were made to
the amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 1 April
2019. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

BE-Z-_ZFE=-F=1+—HLEE

B-ZE-hFHA-HBERN K
DEABRICEHEEYE BHES
EMENEE L HRBEE BB R
HEERIE T SR AR AR AR R 5T
TEREMREFSETE-

TIRER-ZF-NFEA-—HZ
REMBRARPER 2 SFHAE
HENAE RZEHFENERE T
STAERe

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 March 2019  Adjustments 1 April 2019
BEFERE
s ER
KRR F+AER
“E-NE ZB-NEF
=B=1+-H A—-Hz
EHEZEEE BE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BETT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Right-of-use assets FRESE = 6,723 6,723
Investment properties REYE 2,225,570 3,205 2,228,775
Current liability REBEE
Lease liabilities HEER - (4,191) (4,191)
Non-current liability IRBEE
Lease liabilities HEER - (5,737) (5,737)

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from
operating activities under indirect method for
the year ended 31 March 2020, movements
in working capital have been computed
based on opening consolidated statement
of financial position as at 1 April 2019 as
disclosed above.
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As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions
in HKFRS 16, except for subleases which the
Group acts as an intermediate lessor, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment
on transition for leases in which the Group
is a lessor but account for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of
initial application and comparative information
has not been restated.

Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable
rental deposits received were considered as
rights and obligations under leases to which
HKAS 17 applied under trade and other
payables. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are
not payments relating to the right-of-use assets
and were adjusted to reflect the discounting
effect at transition. However, the adjustment
on discounting effect is insignificant to be
recognised at the date of initial application, 1
April 2019.

The directors of the Company consider the
application of HKFRS 16 as a lessor has had no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020 and its consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and
cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions?*

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to Definition of Material?

HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS Reform?

39 and HKFRS 7

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
June 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments
to HKFRSs, a revised Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018. Its
consequential amendments, “the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards”, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
“Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the
definition of material by including additional
guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to
omitting or misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing
users from “could influence” to “could
reasonably be expected to influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too broad when deciding
what information to disclose in the financial
statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all
HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2020.
The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the "New Framework”) and the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:

o reintroduces the terms stewardship and
prudence;

o introduces a new asset definition that focuses
on rights and a new liability definition that
is likely to be broader than the definition it
replaces, but does not change the distinction
between a liability and an equity instrument;

o discusses historical cost and current value
measures, and provides additional guidance
on how to select a measurement basis for a
particular asset or liability;

o states that the primary measure of financial
performance is profit or loss, and that only in
exceptional circumstances other comprehensive
income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the
current value of an asset or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of
account, the reporting entity and combined
financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to
the New Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still
referred to the previous versions of the framework.
These amendments are effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020.
Other than specific standards which still refer to the
previous versions of the framework, the Group will
rely on the New Framework on its effective date
in determining the accounting policies especially
for transactions, events or conditions that are
not otherwise dealt with under the accounting
standards.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
the investment properties and certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 April 2019)
or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

J Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”), or when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners

Upon loss of control of a subsidiary through
distribution of shares in the subsidiary to the
shareholders of the Company where the subsidiary
is ultimately controlled by the same parties both
before and after the distribution, the Group
(a) derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the
date when control is lost; and (b) measures the
distribution and the liability to distribute non-cash
assets as a dividend to its owners at the carrying
amount of the net assets to be distributed.
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Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met
if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.

The Group has elected the optional concentration
test for the acquisition of certain subsidiaries as
disclosed in note 40.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a
liability in the Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
in October 2010) issued by the HKICPA.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and
HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations” are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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Assets acquisition

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the
Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to investment
properties which are subsequently measured under
fair value model and financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to
the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Interests in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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The results and assets and liabilities of an
associate or joint ventures are incorporated in
these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment is classified as held for sale, in
which case it is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations”. Any retained portion of
an investment in an associate or joint venture that
has not been classified as held for sale continues
to be accounted for using the equity method.
The financial statements of an associate and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/
joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless
such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate
or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint
venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When the
Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value
on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint
venture had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate
or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value
upon such changes in ownership interests.
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When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate or a joint venture but the Group
continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate
or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are
not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met
only when the asset is available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of such asset and
its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within
one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their previous carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell except
for investment properties which continue to be
measured in accordance with the accounting
policies as set out in respective sections.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control”
particular performance obligation is transferred to

the customer.

of the goods or services underlying the

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.
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Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of the time value of money if the timing
of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly)
provides the customer or the Group with a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component may
exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by
the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment
and transfer of the associated goods or services is
less than one year, the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for
any significant financing component.

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does
not have a significant financing component in
circumstances where payment in advance or in
arrear are in accordance with the typical payment
terms of the relevant industry, which has a primary
purpose other than financing.
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Warranties

If a customer has the option to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty as
a separate performance obligation and allocates a
portion of the transaction price to that performance
obligation.

If a customer does not have the option to purchase
a warranty separately, the Group accounts for the
warranty in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” unless
the warranty provides the customer with a service in
addition to the assurance that the product complies
with agreed-upon specifications (i.e. service-type
warranties).

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of
warranty provision and provision for rectification
work is described in the accounting policy for
provisions below.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
a customer that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained.
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The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions)
as an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The
asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.

The Group applies the practical expedient of
expensing all incremental costs to obtain a contract
if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses
whether these costs qualify for recognition as an
asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing
which it recognises an asset for these costs only if
they meet all of the following criteria:

(a) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate. The asset is
subject to impairment review.
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Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising
from business combinations on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
note 3)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interest of a property
which includes both leasehold land and non-lease
building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.
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Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of plant and machinery and
shops that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.
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The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property
or inventory as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property and inventory are presented within
“investment properties” and “properties under
development for sale”, respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentive receivables,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.
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The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of
acquiring land held under operating leases, are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are
considered as integral part of lease payments, the
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset,
and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of
HKFRS 16 in accordance with transitions in
note 3)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it
accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two
separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a
finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
the exchange rate prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
period unless exchange rate fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve.
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On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
difference accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation, attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related assets is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deductible from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the Group’s defined contribution
retirement benefits schemes, state-managed
retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered services
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permit the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided
by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes
in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in
the cost of an asset.
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Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at
the grant date. The fair value determined at the
grant date without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, is based
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share-based compensation
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve. For shares/share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the shares/share options granted is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share capital and
contributed surplus. When share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will
be transferred to accumulated profits.
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Shares purchased for share award scheme

When the Company’s shares are purchased
from the open market for share award scheme,
the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as shares
held for share award scheme and deducted from
total equity.

At the time when the award shares are vested, the
difference on the amounts previously recognised in
shares held for share award scheme and the amount
recognised in share-based compensation reserve is
transferred to accumulated profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in an associate and
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered
through sale unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose business objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxation entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. When current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
properties under construction for such purpose).

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets
upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Effective 1 April 2019, a leased property
which is recognised as a right-of-use asset upon
application of HKFRS 16 is derecognised if the
Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease
as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land that is accounted for as an operating lease is
presented as ‘right-of-use assets’ (upon application
of HKFRS 16) or ‘prepaid lease payments’ (if any)
(before application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced by end
of owner-occupation, any difference between
the carrying amount and the fair value of that
item (including the relevant leasehold land under
HKFRS 16 or prepaid lease payments under HKAS
17) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated
profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assets and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Inventories
Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which
are intended to be sold upon completion of
development are classified as current assets. Except
for the leasehold land element which is measured
at cost model in accordance with the accounting
policies of right-of-use assets upon the application
of HKFRS 16, properties under development
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for the properties less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are
transferred to properties held for sale upon
completion.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties
and are classified under current assets. They are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs relating to the development of properties,
comprising land costs and development costs, are
included in properties under development for sale
until such time when they are completed. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less all anticipated cost to be incurred in
marketing and selling.
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The Group transfers a property from inventories
to investment property when there is a change
in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and
for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the
ordinary course of business, which is evidenced
by the inception of an operating lease to another
party. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Others

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present ob